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				    	 Notes 	 	 	 2008	  	 	 2007	

INTEREST INCOME
	 Loans and other receivables 		  10 		  P	  627,103,492 	 P 	 469,190,899
	 Investment securities 		  7, 8, 9 			   168,262,348 		  245,155,517
	 Interbank loans receivable 					     107,901,075 		  158,801,688
	 Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas
		  and other banks 		  6 		  	 13,447,000 	 	 29,248,005

							       	 916,713,915 	 	 902,396,109
INTEREST EXPENSE
	 Deposit liabilities 		  14 			   348,919,531 		  374,866,767
	 Bills payable and others 		  15 		  	 27,300,253 	 	 27,726,992

							       	 376,219,784 	 	 402,593,759

NET INTEREST INCOME 					     540,494,131 		  499,802,350
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 		  10, 12 		  	 46,293,902 	 	 19,711,714

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 				    	 494,200,229 	 	 480,090,636
OTHER INCOME
	 Service charges, fees and commissions 					     113,896,435 		  89,374,665
	 Trading gains - net 		  7, 8			    32,204,666 		  84,585,727
	 Miscellaneous 		  18 		  	 54,991,849 	 	 37,442,694
	
							       	 201,092,950 	 	 211,403,086
OTHER EXPENSES
	 Employee benefits 		  19 			   117,682,130 		  100,482,164
	 Taxes and licenses 					     82,822,044 		  85,270,994
	 Occupancy		  22 			   66,308,987 		  55,996,763
	 Management and other professional fees 					     30,089,228 		  27,270,835
	 Insurance 					     28,740,735		   24,695,579
	 Transportation and travel 					     25,050,240 		  21,472,043
	 Depreciation and amortization 		  11, 12, 13 			   23,070,431 		  19,771,514
	 Miscellaneous 		  18		  	  79,460,554 	 	 160,583,464

							       	 453,224,349 	 	 495,543,356

INCOME BEFORE TAX 					     242,068,830 		  195,950,366

TAX EXPENSE 			  21 		  	 55,883,857 	 	 33,286,412

NET INCOME 					     P	  186,184,973 	 P	  162,663,954

For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
Income Statements
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Statement of Changes in Capital Funds

																									                         Fair Value
																									                         Gains (Losses) on
							       		  Capital Stock		  						      		  Surplus 	 		  Available-for-sale 			   Total
				    	 Notes 	 	 	 Preferred Stock 	 	 	 Common Stock 	 						      	 Appropriated 	 	 	 Unappropriated 	 	 	 Securities 	 	 	 Capital Funds	

Balance as of January 1, 2007				     P 	 120,000,000 	 P 	 420,000,000 						      P 	 93,533,333 	 P 	 371,516,031 	 P 	 49,376,342 	 P 	 1,054,425,706
Fair value gains during the year - net 		  8			    -		   	 -	  							       -			    - 			   21,123,636 		  21,123,636

Appropriation of surplus 		  17			    -		   	 -								        25,200,000 	 (		  25,200,000	)	  	 - 			   -

Net income for the year 				    	 - 	 	 	 - 	 						      	 -	  	 	 162,663,954 	 	 - 	 	 	 162,663,954

Balance as of December 31, 2007 				    P 	 120,000,000 	 P 	 420,000,000 						      P 	 118,733,333 	 P 	 508,979,985 	 P 	 70,499,978 	 P 	 1,238,213,296

Balance as of January 1, 2008				    P 	 120,000,000 	 P 	 420,000,000 						      P 	 118,733,333 	 P 	 508,979,985 	 P 	 70,499,978 	 P 	 1,238,213,296

Fair value losses during the year - net 		  8		   	 -		   	 -							        	 -			    -		  (		 91,302,077	) 	 (		  91,302,077	)
	
Appropriation of surplus 		  17		   	 - 			   -								         9,366,667 	 ( 	 9,366,667	)		   - 			   -
	
Net income for the year 				    	 - 	 	 	 - 	 						      	 - 	 	 	 186,184,973 	 	 -	 	 	 186,184,973

Balance as of December 31, 2008 				    P 	 120,000,000 	 P 	 420,000,000 						      P 	 128,100,000 	 P	  685,798,291 	 (P	  20,802,099	) 	 P 	 1,333,096,192
	
Gains (losses) directly recognized in capital funds

	 2008																								                        	 (P	 91,302,077	)
	 2007 																									                         P 		  21,123,636

	 See Notes to Financial Statements. 
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																									                         Fair Value
																									                         Gains (Losses) on
							       		  Capital Stock		  						      		  Surplus 	 		  Available-for-sale 			   Total
				    	 Notes 	 	 	 Preferred Stock 	 	 	 Common Stock 	 						      	 Appropriated 	 	 	 Unappropriated 	 	 	 Securities 	 	 	 Capital Funds	
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Fair value losses during the year - net 		  8		   	 -		   	 -							        	 -			    -		  (		 91,302,077	) 	 (		  91,302,077	)
	
Appropriation of surplus 		  17		   	 - 			   -								         9,366,667 	 ( 	 9,366,667	)		   - 			   -
	
Net income for the year 				    	 - 	 	 	 - 	 						      	 - 	 	 	 186,184,973 	 	 -	 	 	 186,184,973

Balance as of December 31, 2008 				    P 	 120,000,000 	 P 	 420,000,000 						      P 	 128,100,000 	 P	  685,798,291 	 (P	  20,802,099	) 	 P 	 1,333,096,192
	
Gains (losses) directly recognized in capital funds

	 2008																								                        	 (P	 91,302,077	)
	 2007 																									                         P 		  21,123,636

	 See Notes to Financial Statements. 
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Cash Flow Statements

				    		 Notes 	 		 		 2008	 			 	  2007		
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
	 Income before tax 							    P 	 242,068,830 			 P 	 195,950,366
	 Adjustments for:
		  Depreciation and amortization 			  11, 12, 13 					   23,070,431 				  19,771,514
		  Impairment losses 			  10, 12 					   46,293,902 				  19,711,714
		  Depreciation and amortization
		  Loss (gain) on sale of investment properties - net 			  18					    11,806,820 		 (	  5,012,246	)
		  Unrealized fair value losses 								     654,226 				  179,516
		  Gain on foreclosure of investment properties 			  18 			  ( 	 47,001,956	) 	 ( 	 7,799,158	)
	 Operating income before changes in operating 
		  resources and liabilities 								     276,892,253 				  222,801,706
		  Decrease in financial assets at fair value
			   through profit or loss								      10,089,593 				  1,442,491,536
		  Decrease (increase) in loans and other receivables 								     1,428,910,513 		 ( 	 3,420,946,882	)
		  Increase in other resources 				   		 ( 	 339,632,922	) 	 ( 	 28,025,582	)
		  Increase (decrease) in deposit liabilities 					   	 ( 	 522,278,571	) 			  1,163,442,106
		  Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities 						    		 134,081,028 		 		 78,233,936
	 Cash generated from (used in) operations 								     988,061,894	 	 ( 	 542,003,180	)
	 Cash paid for income taxes					   	 (	  45,447,839	) 	 ( 	 35,905,554	)

	 Net Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities 						    		 942,614,055	 	 ( 	 577,908,734	)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
	 Net disposals (acquisitions) of available-for-sale securities 			  8		  	 ( 	 1,588,057,814	) 			  622,961,294
	 Proceeds from disposal of investment properties			  12					   46,497,815 				  43,047,706
	 Net acquisitions of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 	 11			  ( 	 52,151,777	) 	 ( 	 38,221,924	)

	 Net Cash From (Used in) Investing Activities						    (	  1,593,711,776	) 	 		 627,787,076

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY
	 Net proceeds from (payments of ) bills payable 						    ( 	 244,251,700	) 	 		 359,291,244

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
	 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 						    (	  895,349,421	) 	 	 	 409,169,586
	
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
	 AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
	 Cash and other cash items 								     145,921,920 				  132,964,607
	 Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 								     387,566,740 				  307,817,694
	 Due from other banks 			  25		  	 		 914,077,273 		 		 597,614,046
	
									       		 1,447,565,933		  		 1,038,396,347
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
	 Cash and other cash items								      188,246,006 				  145,921,920
	 Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas							    	  200,558,726 				  387,566,740
	 Due from other banks 			  25 			  		 163,411,780 		 		 914,077,273

								      	 	P 	 552,216,512		 	 P 	 1,447,565,933

Supplemental Information on Noncash Operating and Investing Activities

Additions to investment properties as a result of foreclosures amounted to P157.0 million and P29.7 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively 
(see Note 12).

On September 11, 2008, the Bank reclassified certain financial assets that were previously classified under Financial Assets at Fair Value 
through Profit or Loss and Available-for-Sale Securities to Held-to-maturity Investments with fair values of P18.8 million and P2,131.0 million, 
respectively (see Notes 7, 8 and 9).

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.1 Incorporation and Operations

Philippine Business Bank, Inc. A Savings Bank (the Bank) was incorporated in the Philippines on January 28, 1997 to engage in the business of 
thrift banking. It was authorized to engage in foreign currency deposit operations on August 27, 1997 and in trust operations on November 
13, 2003. As a banking institution, the Bank’s operations are regulated and supervised by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP). In this regard, 
the Bank is required to comply with rules and regulations of the BSP such as those relating to adoption and use of safe and sound banking 
practices as promulgated by the BSP.

The Bank’s registered address, which is also its principal place of business, is at 350 Rizal Avenue Extension corner 8th Avenue, Grace Park, 
Caloocan City.

The Bank operates within the Philippines with 32 branches located in Metro Manila and other provincial locations.

1.2 Plan of Merger with Kabalikat Rural Bank, Inc.

On April 22, 2008, the Bank entered into a Purchase Agreement (the Agreement) with Kabalikat Rural Bank, Inc. (KRBI) where the Bank shall 
purchase all of KRBI’s shares of stock, property, assets and goodwill for a consideration amounting to P16 million.

The following are the principal terms of the Agreement:

(a) 	 A downpayment amounting to P9.0 million shall be paid immediately upon signing of the Agreement; and

(b) 	 The balance of P7.0 million shall be put in escrow by the Bank in favor of KRBI, and shall be released upon approval of the transaction by 
the BSP, provided that all the stockholders of KRBI are ready to execute and sign the Deed of Assignment of Shares in favor of the Bank.

Subsequently, on May 21, 2008, the Bank and KRBI entered into a Plan of Merger which will become effective on the date of the approval and 
issuance by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) of a Certificate of Filing of Articles of Merger under the Plan of Merger, both subject 
to prior approval by the BSP. The following are the consequence of the merger:

(a) 	 The Bank and KRBI shall become a single corporation with the Bank as the surviving entity;

(b) 	 The Bank shall continue to possess all rights, privileges, franchises and powers of KRBI and shall continue to be subject to all duties and 
liabilities which are existing prior to the merger;

(c) 	 All the real and personal and tangible and intangible properties of KRBI including the latter’s name, receivables and all other interests 
shall be deemed transferred to the Bank without further act or deed;

(d)	  All liabilities and obligations of KRBI shall be transferred to and become liabilities and obligations of the Bank as if the Bank has incurred 
such; and

(e) 	 All the subscribed shares and all deposits and rights of all the shareholders of KRBI pertaining thereto shall be conveyed to the Bank at 
agreed purchase price of P16.0 million.

On October 23, 2008, the BSP approved the following in its Resolution No. 1352 dated October 17, 2008:

(a) 	 The merger and the corresponding Plan of Merger and Articles of Merger between the Bank and KRBI, provided that the merger shall be 
in accordance with Section 79 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines and that the subject banks shall obtain all regulatory approvals 
within six months from date of receipt of BSP approval and the Bank shall comply with Section 21(c)(1) of the Republic Act No. 3951 (The 
Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation Charter) as amended;

Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements

(b) 	 Granting of the following merger incentives to the Bank:

1. 	 Conversion/upgrade of the head office and granting of thrift bank branch licenses to the four existing rural bank branch licenses 
of KRBI;

2. 	 Establishment of additional three branches in the restricted areas and ten branches in the non-restricted areas within one year 
from date of receipt of BSP approval of the said merger; and

3. 	 Automatic lifting of the Prompt Corrective Action status of KRBI under Monetary Board Resolution No. 738 dated June 28, 2007 
upon effectivity of the merger.

Relative to the conditions set forth by the BSP on its approval of the merger, the Bank received the BSP’s certification dated January 23, 2009 
stating that the Plan of Merger and the Articles of Merger are in accordance with Section 79 of the Corporate Code of the Philippines.

As of May 18, 2009, the Bank is still in the process of obtaining from the SEC the approval for the merger and the Certificate of Filing of Articles 
of Merger.

1.3 Approval of Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2008 (including the comparatives for the year ended December 31, 
2007) were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors (BOD) on May 18, 2009.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized below. The policies 
have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

The 2008 financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards in the Philippines 
for banks (FRSP). The comparative financial statements for 2007 have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS). PFRS are adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board. FRSP are similar to PFRS, except for the following reclassifications of certain financial instruments which are 
not allowed under PFRS in 2007 and prior years, but allowed under FRSP starting 2008 as permitted by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) 
for prudential reporting, and by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for financial reporting purposes: the reclassification of the 
embedded derivatives in credit-linked notes (CLNs) and other similar instruments that are linked to Republic of the Philippines (ROP) bonds 
from the fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) classification to loans and receivables and available-for-sale (AFS) classification, and the 
reclassification of certain financial assets previously classified under AFS category due to the tainting of held-to-maturity (HTM) portfolio back 
to HTM category.

These financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by PFRS and FRSP for each type of asset, liability, 
income and expense. These financial statements have been prepared on the historical basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial 
assets. The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies in the succeeding pages.

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s functional currency, and all values represent absolute amounts except 
when otherwise indicated (see also Note 2.11).

The following tables show the reconciliation of the equity accounts as of December 31, 2008 and net income for the year ended determined 
under PFRS to FRSP amounts as presented in the 2008 financial statements, considering the reclassification of certain financial instruments as 
permitted by BSP and SEC for FRSP starting in 2008.
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(a) 	 The reconciliation of the capital funds under PFRS to capital funds reported under FRSP as of December 31, 2008 is shown below.

Capital funds under PFRS 	 P 	 1,095,451,984

Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities
	 reclassified to held-to-maturity investments 		  237,640,678
Trading losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or
	 loss reclassified to held-to-maturity investments		   62,186
Interest income - fair value gain amortization of financial assets at
	 fair value through profit or loss reclassified to
	 held-to-maturity investments	 ( 	 58,656)
			   	 237,644,208
Capital funds under FRSP 	 P	  1,333,096,192

(b) 	 Differences in the measurement of statement of condition items as of December 31, 2008 are summarized below.

			   	 PFRS 		  	 	 Differences 		  	 	 FRSP		
Changes in resources:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 	 P 	 18,747,332	 	 (P 	 18,747,332	) 	 P	  -	
Available-for-sale securities 	 	 2,405,581,992 		 (	 1,957,150,278	) 	 	 448,431,714	
Held-to-maturity investments 	 	 - 	 	 	 	 2,213,541,818 		 	 2,213,541,818
			   P	 2,424,329,324 					    P	 2,661,973,532
Total adjustment to capital funds 				    P	  237,644,208	

(c)	 The reconciliation of the net income under PFRS to net income reported under FRSP for the year ended December 31, 2008  
follows:

Net income under PFRS 		  P 	 186,181,443	
Trading losses of financial assets at fair value through
	 profit or loss reclassified to held-to-maturity investments 			   62,186
Interest income - premium amortization of financial assets at
	 fair value through profit or loss reclassified to held-to-maturity investments	 (		  58,656	)
Amortization of fair value losses of reclassified available-for-sale securities 			   543,694
Amortization of premium of held-to-maturity investments	 (		  543,694	)
				    	 3,530	
Net income under FRSP 		  P 	 186,184,973	

2.2 Impact of New Amendments and Interpretations to Existing Standards

(a)	 Effective in 2008 that are Relevant to the Bank

In 2008, the Bank adopted for the first time the following new interpretation and amended standards which are mandatory in 2008.

Philippine Interpretation
	 International Financial
	 Reporting Interpretations
	 Committee (IFRIC) 14	 :	 Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 19 -
				    The Limit on a Defined Benefit
				    Asset, Minimum Funding
				    Requirements and their Interaction
PAS 39 and PFRS 7
	 (Amendments) 	 :	 PAS 39, Financial Instruments:
				    Recognition and Measurement
				    and PFRS 7, Financial Instruments:
				    Disclosures
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Discussed below are the effects on the financial statements of the new accounting interpretation and amended standards.

(i)	 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 
(effective from January 1, 2008). This Philippine Interpretation provides guidance on assessing the limit in PAS 19, Employee Benefits, on 
the amount of the surplus that can be recognized as an asset. It also explains how the pension asset or liability may be affected by a 
statutory or contractual minimum funding requirement. The Bank’s adoption of this interpretation does not have any impact on the 
Bank’s financial statements, as it has a retirement benefit obligation and is not subject to any minimum funding requirements.

(ii)	 PAS 39 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
(effective from July 1, 2008). The amendments permit an entity to:

• 	 reclassify non-derivative financial assets, other than those designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition, out of the FVTPL category:

a. 	 only in rare circumstances and if there is a change in intention (i.e., the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling 
or repurchasing it in the near future); and

b. 	 if the financial asset would have met the definition of loans and receivables and if the financial asset had not been required to 
be classified as held-for-trading at initial recognition and the entity has the intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the 
foreseeable future or until maturity.

• 	 transfer from AFS category to the loans and receivables category a non-derivative financial asset that would have met the definition of 
loans and receivables if the entity has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

The amendments are applicable in a partially retrospective manner up to July 1, 2008 provided that the reclassification was made on or 
before November 15, 2008, the cut-off date set by the FRSC. After the cut-off date, all reclassifications will only take effect prospectively.

Pursuant to these amendments and guidelines, the Bank reclassified certain financial assets from FVTPL and AFS to HTM (see Notes 2.1, 7, 
8 and 9). 

The first time application of these interpretation and amendments has not resulted in any prior period adjustments of statement of condition, 
net income or cash flow line items.

(b)	 Effective in 2008 but not Relevant to the Bank

The following interpretations to published standards are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008 but are 
not relevant to the Bank’s operations:

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 11	 : 	 Group and Treasury Share Transactions
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12 	 : 	 Service Concession Arrangements

(c) 	 Effective Subsequent to 2008

There are new and amended standards that are effective for periods subsequent to 2008. The following new and amended standards, effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009, are relevant to the Bank which the Bank will apply in accordance with its transitional 
provisions.

PAS 1 (Revised 2007) 	 : 	 Presentation of Financial Statements
Various Standards 	 : 	 2008 Annual Improvements to PFRS

Below is a discussion of the possible impact of these new and amended accounting standards.

(i) 	 PAS 1 (Revised 2007), Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from January 1, 2009). The amendment requires an entity to 
present all items of income and expense recognized in the period in a single statement of comprehensive income or in two statements: 
a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income. The income statement shall disclose income and expense 
recognized in profit and loss in the same way as the current version of PAS 1. The statement of comprehensive income shall disclose 
profit or loss for the period, plus each component of income and expense recognized outside of profit and loss classified by nature 
(e.g., gains or losses on available-for-sale assets or translation differences related to foreign operations). Changes in capital funds 
arising from transactions with owners are excluded from the statement of comprehensive income (e.g. dividends and capital increase).  
An entity would also be required to include in its set of financial statements a statement showing its financial position (or statement 
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of condition) at the beginning of the previous period when the entity retrospectively applies an accounting policy or makes a 
retrospective restatement. The Bank will apply PAS 1 (Revised 2007) in its 2009 financial statements.

(ii) 	 2008 Annual Improvements to PFRS. The FRSC has adopted the Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards 2008. These 
amendments will become effective in the Philippines in annual periods beginning on or after

	 January 1, 2009. The Bank expects the amendments to the following standards to be relevant to the Bank’s accounting policies.

• 	 PAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements. The amendment clarifies that financial instruments classified as held 
for trading in accordance with PAS 39 are not necessarily required to be presented as current assets or current liabilities. Instead, 
normal classification principles under PAS 1 should be applied. Presently, the Bank’s statement of condition is presented in order 
of liquidity; hence, this amendment will have no impact in the Bank’s 2009 financial statements.

• 	 PAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits. The amendment includes the following:

- 	 Clarification that a curtailment is considered to have occurred to the extent that benefit promises are affected by future 
salary increases and a reduction in the present value of the defined benefit obligation results in negative past service cost.

- 	 Change in the definition of return of plan assets to require the deduction of plan administration costs in the calculation 
of plan asset return only to the extent that such costs have been excluded from measurement of the defined benefit 
obligation.

- 	 Distinction between short-term and long-term employee benefits will be based on whether benefits are due to be settled 
within or after 12 months of employee service being rendered.

- 	 Removal of the reference to recognition in relation to contingent liabilities in order to be consistent with PAS 37, Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, which requires contingent liabilities to be disclosed and not recognized.

	 The Bank’s management assessed that these amendments to PAS 19 will have no impact on its 2009 financial statements.

• 	 PAS 38 (Amendment), Intangible Assets. The amendment clarifies when to recognize a prepayment asset, including advertising 
or promotional expenditures. In the case of supply of goods, the entity recognizes such expenditure as an expense when it 
has a right to access the goods. For services, an expense is recognized on receiving the service. Also, prepayment may only be 
recognized in the event that payment has been made in advance of obtaining right of access to goods or receipt of services. The 
Bank initially determined that adoption of this amendment will not have a material effect on its 2009 financial statements.

• 	 PAS 39 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The definition of financial asset or financial liability at 
fair value through profit or loss as it relates to items that are held for trading was changed. 

	 A financial asset or liability that is part of a portfolio of financial instruments managed together with evidence of an actual 
recent pattern of short-term profit taking is included in such a portfolio on initial recognition. The Bank initially determined that 
adoption of this amendment will not have a material effect on its 2009 financial statements. 

Minor amendments are made to several other standards; however, those amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Bank’s financial statements.

2.3 Financial Instruments

2.3.1 Financial Assets

Financial assets include cash and other financial instruments. Financial assets, other than hedging instruments, are classified into the following 
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets, held-to-maturity investments and loans and 
receivables. Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for 
which the investments were acquired. The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated at every reporting date at which date a choice of 
classification or accounting treatment is available, subject to compliance with specific provisions of applicable accounting standards.

Cash and other cash items comprise of cash and amounts due from other banks. For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash and other cashitems, amounts due from BSP and other banks and interbank loans  receivable.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date. All financial assets that are not classified as at FVTPL are 
initially recognized at fair value, plus transaction costs. Financial assets carried at FVTPL are initially recognized at fair value and transaction 
costs are expensed in the income statement.
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The foregoing categories of financial instruments are more fully described below.

(a) 	 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

This category includes financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or are designated by the entity to be carried at fair 
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose 
of selling it in the near term or if so designated by management. All derivatives fall into this category, except for those designated and 
effective as hedging instruments.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets included in this category are measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets (except derivatives and financial instruments originally designated as financial assets at 
FVTPL) may be subsequently reclassified out of FVTPL category if they are no longer held for the purpose of being sold or repurchased 
in the near term, effective July 1, 2008:

(i) 	 only in rare circumstances and if there is a change in intention (i.e., the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling 
or repurchasing it in the near future); and

(ii)	 if the financial asset would have met the definition of loans receivables and if the financial asset had not been required to be 
classified as held for trading at initial recognition and the entity has the intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the 
foreseeable future or until maturity.

(b)	  Held-to-maturity Investments

This includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and a fixed date of maturity. Investments are 
classified as held-to maturity if the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold them until maturity. Investments intended to be 
held for an undefined period are not included in this classification.

Should the Bank sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments, the entire category would be tainted and 
reclassified as AFS securities. The tainting provision will not apply if the sales or reclassifications of held-to-maturity investments are 
so close to maturity or the financial asset’s call date that changes in the market rate of interest would not have a significant effect 
on the financial asset’s fair value; occur after the Bank has collected substantially all of the financial asset’s original principal through 
scheduled payments or prepayments; or are attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the control of the Bank, is nonrecurring 
and could not have been reasonably anticipated by the Bank.

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. In addition, if there is objective 
evidence that the investment has been impaired, the financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. 
Any changes to the carrying amount of the investment are recognized in profit or loss.

(c) 	 Available-for-sale Securities

This category includes non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any 
of the other categories of financial assets. 

All financial assets within this category are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at fair 
value, unless otherwise disclosed, with changes in value recognized in capital funds, net of any effects arising from income taxes. Gains 
and losses arising from securities classified as available-for-sale are recognized in the income statement when they are sold or when 
the investment is impaired.

In the case of impairment, the cumulative loss previously recognized directly in capital funds is transferred to the income statement. 
If circumstances change, impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are not reversed through the income statement. On 
the other hand, if in a subsequent period the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in income statement, the impairment loss 
is reversed through the income statement.

(d) 	 Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They arise when the Bank provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. Included 
in this category are those arising from direct loans to customers, interbank loans, sales contract receivables and all receivables from 
customers and other banks.
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Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses. Any 
change in their value is recognized in profit or loss, except for increases in fair values of reclassified financial assets under PAS 39 and 
PFRS 7 (Amendments). Increases in estimates of future cash receipts from such financial assets shall be recognized as an adjustment to 
the effective interest rate from the date of the change in estimate rather than as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial 
asset at the date of the change in estimate. Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be 
able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the impairment loss is 
determined as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

Loans and receivables are presented as Loans and Other Receivables in the statement of condition.

For investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to exchange quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the statement of condition date. For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is 
determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the 
expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment.

Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognized in profit or loss when earned, regardless 
of how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire or are transferred and 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

2.3.2 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of condition when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.3.3 Sale and Repurchase Agreements

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (such as Securities Purchased Under Reverse Repurchase Agreements) are recorded as part 
of Interbank Loans Receivable. The Bank enters into short-term purchases of securities under reverse repurchase agreements of substantially 
identical securities with the BSP. Interest earned on resale agreements are reported as interest income.

2.3.4 Impairment of Financial Assets

The Bank assesses at each statement of condition date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (events) 
has (have) an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Bank.

(a) 	 Assets Carried at Amortized Cost

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, 
and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial asset 
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortized cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit loss that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized 
in the income statement. If loans or held-to-maturity investments have a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure 
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics 
(i.e., on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past due status 
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and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being 
indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the 
contractual cash flows of the assets in the Bank and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those 
in the Bank. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions 
that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical 
period that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with changes in related 
observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors 
indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group and their magnitude).

The methodology and assumptions used for estimated future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences 
between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the 
necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the income statement.

(b) 	 Assets Carried at Fair Value

The Bank assesses at each statement of condition date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired.

If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss – is removed from 
capital funds and recognized in the income statement. Impairment losses recognized in the income statement on equity instruments 
are not reversed through the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for 
sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or 
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the income statement.

(c) 	 Assets Carried at Cost

If there is objective evidence of impairment for any of the unquoted equity securities and derivative assets linked to and required to be 
settled in such unquoted equity instruments, which are carried at cost, the amount of impairment loss is recognized. The amount of 
impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount of the equity security and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar asset. Impairment losses on assets carried at cost cannot be reversed.

2.3.5 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities include deposit liabilities, bills payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the instrument. All interest related 
charges are recognized as Interest Expense in the income statement.

Deposit liabilities and bills payable are recognized initially at fair value, which is the issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of 
direct issue costs. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the 
redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Accrued expenses and other liabilities are recognized initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amounts to which they 
are to be paid.

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of condition only when the obligations are extinguished either through discharge, 
cancellation or expiration.
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2.4 Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

Land is stated at cost. Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at acquisition cost less subsequent depreciation and 
amortization and impairment losses. 

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended 
use. Expenditures for additions, major improvements and renewals are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged 
to expense as incurred. When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and their related accumulated depreciation and 
amortization and impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in income for the period.

Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

	 Building 	 50 years
	 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 	 5 years
	 Transportation equipment 	 5 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount (see Note 2.12).

The residual values and estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each statement of condition date.

An item of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year the item is derecognized.

2.5  Investment Properties

Investment properties are stated at cost. The cost of an investment property comprises its purchase price and directly attributable cost 
incurred. These also include land and building acquired by the Bank from defaulting borrowers. For these assets, cost is recognized initially at 
fair value of the investment properties unless: (i) the exchange transaction lacks commercial substance; or (ii) the fair value of neither the asset 
received nor the asset given up is reliably measurable. The difference between the fair value of the asset received and the carrying amount 
of the loan settled through foreclosure of investment properties is recognized as Gain on Foreclosure of Investment Properties in the income 
statement. Investment properties except land are depreciated over a period of ten years.

Investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 
from its disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognized in the income statement in the year 
of retirement or disposal.

2.6  Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include acquired branch licenses used in operations which are accounted for under the cost model. The cost of the asset is 
the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other considerations given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition. 
The acquired branch license is classified as intangible asset with indefinite useful life, and thus, not subject to amortization but would require 
an annual test for impairment (see Note 2.12). Branch licenses are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

2.7  Provisions

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources and they can be estimated reliably 
even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive 
commitment that has resulted from past events, for example, legal disputes or onerous contracts. 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available 
at the statement of condition date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Any reimbursement expected 
to be received in the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if virtually certain as a separate asset, not exceeding the 
amount of the related provision. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class ofobligations as a whole. In addition, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values, 
where time value of money is material.
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Provisions are reviewed at each statement of condition date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the 
amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements.

Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are 
not recognized in the financial statements.

2.8  Capital Funds

Preferred and common stocks are determined using the nominal value of the shares that have been issued.

Appropriated surplus pertains to appropriations made by the Bank for self-insurance and for redemption of preferred shares.

Unappropriated surplus includes all current and prior period results as disclosed in the income statement, less appropriated surplus.

Fair value gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities pertains to cumulative mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities, net of 
amortization of fair value losses on reclassified financial assets.

2.9  Revenue and Expense Recognition

2.9.1 Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement for all instruments measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the 
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount 
of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual 
terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all 
fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is 
recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.9.2 Service Charges, Fees and Commissions

Service charges, fees and commissions are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Other service fees 
are recognized based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-appropriate basis.

2.9.3 Trading Gains

Trading gains are recognized when the ownership of the security is transferred to the buyer and is computed as the difference between 
the selling price and the carrying amount of the security. Trading and securities gain also results from the mark-to-market valuation of the 
securities at the valuation date. 

Costs and expenses are recognized in the income statement upon utilization of the assets or services or at the date they are incurred.

2.10 Leases

Leases, which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, 
such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

The Bank determines whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease based on the substance of the arrangement. It makes an assessment of 
whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use 
the asset.
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2.11 Foreign Currency Transactions

(a) 	 Functional and Presentation Currency

	 Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (the functional currency). The financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Bank’s 
functional currency. The financial statements of the Bank’s foreign currency deposit unit (FCDU) which is reported in its functional 
currency, US dollars, are translated using the prevailing current exchange rate (for the statement of condition accounts) and average 
exchange rate during the period (for profit and loss accounts).

(b) 	 Transactions and Balances

	 The accounting records of the Bank’s regular banking unit are maintained in Philippine pesos while the FCDU are maintained in US 
dollars, its functional currency. Foreign currency transactions during the period are translated into the functional currency at exchange 
rates which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates.

	 Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement.

2.12  Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Bank’s premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment, investment properties, branch licenses and other properties held for sale are subject 
to impairment testing. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal 
discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit.

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may no longer exist and the carrying 
amount of the asset is adjusted to the recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.

2.13 Employee Benefits

(a) 	 Retirement Benefit Obligations

Pension benefits are provided to employees through a defined benefit plan, as well as defined contribution plan.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. The legal obligation for any benefits from this kind 
of pension plan remains with the Bank, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been acquired. Plan assets may 
include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as well as qualifying insurance policies. The Bank’s defined benefit 
pension plan covers all regular full-time employees. The pension plan is tax-qualified, noncontributory and administered by a trustee.

The liability recognized in the statement of condition for defined benefit pension plan is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation (DBO) at the statement of condition date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognized 
actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The DBO is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the DBO is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high 
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are not recognized as an expense unless the total unrecognized gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater 
of the obligation and related plan assets. The amount exceeding this 10% corridor is charged or credited to profit or loss over the 
employees’ expected average remaining working lives. Actuarial gains and losses within the 10% corridor are disclosed separately. Past 
service costs are recognized immediately in the income statement, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past service costs are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions into an independent entity such as 
the Social Security System. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed 
contribution. The contributions recognized in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.
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(b) 	 Profit-sharing and Bonus Plans

The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the 
profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Bank recognizes a provision where it is contractually 
obliged to pay the benefits, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(c) 	 Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including holiday entitlement) remaining at the statement 
of condition date. They are included in the Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities account in the statement of condition at the 
undiscounted amount that the Bank expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

2.14 Income Taxes

Current income tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting 
period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the statement of condition date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable 
to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized 
as a component of tax expense in the income statement.

Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences at the statement of condition date between the 
tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Under the balance sheet liability method, with certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of condition date and reduced to the extent that it is probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of condition date.

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in the income statement. Only changes in 
deferred tax assets or liabilities that relate to a change in value of assets or liabilities that is charged directly to capital funds are charged or 
credited directly to capital funds.

2.15 Trust Operations

The Bank commonly acts as trustee and in other fiduciary capacity that results in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, 
trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, 
as they are not assets of the Bank.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of resources and liabilities within the next financial year. 
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates.

3.1 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those involving 
estimation, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

(a)	 Held-to-maturity Investments

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in classifying non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgment. 
In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Bank fails to keep 
these investments at maturity other than for the allowed specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close 
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to maturity – it will be required to reclassify the entire class to AFS securities. However, the tainting provision will not apply if the sales 
or reclassifications of held-to-maturity investments are so close to maturity or the financial asset’s call date that changes in the market 
rate of interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value; occur after the Bank has collected substantially all 
of the financial asset’s original principal through scheduled payments or prepayments; or are attributable to an isolated event that is 
beyond the control of the Bank, is nonrecurring and could not have been reasonably anticipated by the Bank. The investments would 
therefore be measured at fair value and not at amortized cost.

In 2006, the Bank sold a significant portion of its held-to-maturity investments and accordingly, the balance amounting to P553.8 
million was reclassified to AFS securities. Fair value gain recognized upon reclassification amounted to P13.7 million and was recorded 
in capital funds. Due to the significant sale of held-to-maturity investments, the Bank is not allowed to classify as HTM investments its 
financial assets for at least two full years after the reclassification.

In 2008, however, the BSP and SEC allowed the reclassification of certain financial assets that were previously classified under FVTPL 
and AFS categories, because of tainting, back to HTM investments, despite tainting, or to loans and receivables. Accordingly, the 
Bank reclassified its investments in debt securities previously classified under FVTPL and AFS to HTM investments amounting to 
P18.8 million and P2,130.8 million, respectively, representing the fair value of the reclassified investments on September 11, 2008, the 
effective date of reclassification (see Notes 7, 8 and 9).

(b) 	 Impairment of AFS Securities and HTM Investments

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in determining when an investment is 
permanently impaired. This determination requires significant judgment. In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates, among other 
factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term 
business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational 
and financing cash flow. 

No impairment loss on AFS securities and HTM investments was recognized in 2008 and 2007.

(c) 	 Distinction between Investment Properties and Owner-occupied Properties

The Bank determines whether a property qualifies as investment property. In making its judgment, the Bank considers whether the 
property generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by an entity. Owner-occupied properties generate cash 
flows that are attributable not only to other assets used in the production or supply process.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in 
the production and supply of goods and services or for administrative purposes. If these portion can be sold separately (or leased out 
separately under finance lease), the Bank accounts for the portions separately. If the portion cannot be sold separately, the property 
is accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services 
of for administrative purposes.

Judgment is applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment 
property. The Bank considers each property separately in making its judgment.

(d) 	 Classification of Acquired Properties and Fair Value Determination of Other Properties Held-for-Sale and Investment Properties

The Bank classifies its acquired properties as Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment if used in operations, as Other Properties 
Held-for-Sale if the Bank expects that the properties will be recovered through sale rather than use, as Investment Properties if the Bank 
intends to hold the properties for capital appreciation or as Financial Assets in accordance with PAS 39. At initial recognition, the Bank 
determines the fair value of acquired properties based on valuations performed by internal and external appraisers. The appraised 
value is determined based on the current economic and market conditions as well as the physical condition of the property.

(e) 	 Operating and Finance Leases

The Bank has entered into various lease agreements as a lessee. Critical judgment was exercised by management to distinguish 
each lease agreement as either an operating or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of 
ownership of the properties covered by the agreements.

(f ) 	 Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies. Policies on recognition and disclosure 
of provision and disclosure of contingencies are discussed in Note 2.7 and relevant disclosures are presented in Note 22.
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3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
resources and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

(a)	  Impairment Losses on Financial Assets (Available-for-sale Securities, Held-to-maturity Investments and Loans and Other Receivables)

The Bank reviews its available-for-sale securities, held-to-maturity investments portfolios and loan portfolios to  assess impairment at 
least on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank makes 
judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from the portfolio before the decrease can be identified with an individual item in that portfolio. This evidence may include 
observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in a group, or national 
or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical 
loss  experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when 
scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and  timing of future cash 
flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss  experience.

The Bank carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires the extensive use of accounting estimates and judgment. Significant 
components of fair value measurement were determined using verifiable objective evidence such as foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates and volatility rates. However, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Bank utilized different valuation methods and 
assumptions. Any change in fair value of these financial assets and liabilities would affect profit and loss and capital funds.

Provisions for impairment losses recognized by the Bank on its loans and other receivables amounted to P42.7 million and P16.4 
million in 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 10). No impairment loss was recognized on AFS securities in 2008 and 2007.

(b) 	 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial resources and liabilities not presented in the 
statement of condition at their fair values as of December 31:

	 	 2008	
				    	 Cost 	 	 	 Fair Value	
Financial Resources:
Cash and other cash items 	 P 	 188,246,006 		 P	  188,246,006
Due from BSP 		 200,558,726 			   200,558,726
Due from other banks 		  163,411,780 			  163,411,780
HTM investments 		  2,213,541,818 			  2,036,418,373
Loans and other receivables 		  9,049,502,237 			  8,856,856,226

Financial Liabilities:
Deposit liabilities 		  10,382,706,845 			  10,382,706,845
Bills payable			    407,472,645 			  407,472,645
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 		  795,905,122 			  795,905,122

	 	 2007	
				    	 Cost Fair 	 	 	 Value	
Financial Resources:
Cash and other cash items 	 P 	 145,921,920 		 P 	 145,921,920
Due from BSP 		 387,566,740 			   387,566,740
Due from other banks 		  919,237,273 			  919,237,273
Loans and other receivables 		  10,494,874,448 			  10,323,314,643

Financial Liabilities:
Deposit liabilities 		  10,904,985,416 			  10,904,985,416
Bills payable 			   651,724,345 			  651,724,345
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 		  570,321,209 			  570,321,209
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(i) 	 Due from BSP and other banks

Due from BSP pertains to deposits made by the Bank to BSP for clearing and reserve requirements. Due from other banks 
includes interbank deposits and items in the course of collection. The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight 
deposits is their carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows 
using prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity, which for short-term 
deposits approximates the nominal value.

(ii) 	 HTM investments

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The fair value of held-to-
maturity investments is determined by direct reference to published price quoted in an active market for traded securities.

(iii) 	 Loans and other receivables

Loans and other receivables are net of impairment losses. The estimated fair value of loans and receivables represents the 
discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current 
market rates to determine fair value.

(iv) 	 Deposits and borrowings

The estimated fair value of demand deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the 
amount repayable on demand. The estimated fair value of long-term fixed interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings 
without quoted market price is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining 
maturity. The carrying amounts of deposits and borrowings already approximate their fair values.

(v) 	 Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities are recognized initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amounts 
to which they are to be paid. Fair value of these short-term liabilities approximates their carrying values.

(c) 	 Useful Lives of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

The Bank estimates the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment based on the period over which the assets are 
expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed periodically 
and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence 
and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. The carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are 
analyzed in Note 11. Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned 
above. There is no change in estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment during the year.

(d) 	 Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at each statement of condition date and reduces the carrying amount to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred  
tax asset to be utilized. The carrying value of deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 is disclosed in Notes 13 and 21.

(e) 	 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Except for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, PFRS requires that an impairment review be performed when certain 
impairment indicators are present. The Bank’s policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is discussed in detail in Note 
2.12. Though management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are 
appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and 
any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations.

Allowance for impairment on investment properties amounted to P14.9 million and P11.3 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively (see Note 12).
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(f ) Retirement Benefits

The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of pension and other retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of certain 
assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions are described in Note 19.2 and include, among others, 
discount rates, expected rate of return on plan assets and expected rate of salary increases. In accordance with PFRS, actual results 
that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized 
expense and recorded obligation in such future periods. 

The estimated retirement obligation amounted to P17.9 million and P12.9 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, 
while the fair value of plan assets as of those dates amounted to P11.8 million and P14.5 million, respectively (see Note 19.2).

4. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Bank is exposed to risks that are particular to its lending and trading businesses and the environment within which it operates. The Bank’s 
goal in risk management is to ensure that it identifies, understands, measures and monitors the various risks that arise from the financial 
instruments it invests in and that it adheres strictly to the policies, procedures and controls which are established to address these risks. The key 
risks that the Bank faces are: credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. It is also exposed to other types of risks such as technology risk, strategic 
and business risks and legal risk.

4.1 Strategy in Using Financial Instruments

By their nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments. The Bank accepts deposits from customers at 
fixed and floating rates, and for various periods, and seeks to earn above-average interest margins by investing these funds in high-quality 
assets. The Bank seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds and lending for longer periods at higher rates, while 
maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.

The Bank also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions in traded and over-the-counter instruments to take advantage of short-
term market movements in bonds and interest rate prices.

To manage the financial risk for holding financial assets and liabilities, the Bank operates an integrated risk management system to address the 
risks it faces in its activities, including credit, market, and liquidity risks. The Bank’s risk management objective is to adequately and consistently 
evaluate, manage, control, and monitor the risk profile of the Bank’s statement of condition to optimize the risk-reward balance and maximize 
return on the Bank’s capital.

The Bank’s Risk Management Committee has overall responsibility for the Bank’s risk management systems and sets risks management policies 
across the full range of risks to which the Bank is exposed. Specifically, the Bank’s Risk Management Sector (RMS) places trading limits on the 
level of exposure that can be taken in relation to both overnight and intra-day market positions. 

Within the Bank’s overall risk management system, Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is responsible for managing the Bank’s statement 
of condition, including the Bank’s liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange related risks. In addition, ALCO formulates investment and 
financial policies by determining the asset allocation and funding mix strategies that are likely to yield the targeted statement of condition 
results. Separately, the RMS is tasked with identifying and analyzing sources of risks and making appropriate recommendations to the RMS 
on ways to best manage and mitigate such risks. Organizationally, the RMS is independent from any of the Bank’s line functions and reports 
directly to the RMC.

4.2 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transaction may default and arises from lending, trade finance, treasury and other activities 
undertaken by the Bank. The Bank manages its credit risk and loan portfolio through the RMS, which undertakes several functions with respect 
to credit risk management.

The RMS undertakes credit analysis and review to ensure consistency in the Bank’s risk assessment process. The RMS reviews the risk ratings 
performed by lending units for corporate accounts and risk scoring for consumer accounts. It also ensures that the Bank’s credit policies and 
procedures are adequate to meet the demands of the business.
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The RMS also undertakes portfolio management by reviewing the Bank’s loan portfolio, including the portfolio risks associated with particular 
industry sectors, regions, loan size and maturity, and development of a strategy for the Bank to achieve its desired portfolio mix and risk 
profile.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital 
repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits when appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining 
collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.

The RMS reviews the Bank’s loan portfolio in line with the Bank’s policy of not having significant unwarranted concentrations of exposure 
to individual counterparties, in accordance with the BSP’s prohibitions on maintaining a financial exposure to any single person or Bank of 
connected persons in excess of 25% of its Net Worth.

The following table shows the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk on loans and other receivables as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 
(amounts in thousands).

			   	 2008 	 	 	 2007	
Individually impaired
	 Wholesale and retail trade 	 P 	 395,154 		 P 	 123,961
	 Manufacturing 		  279,494 			  169,809
	 Real estate, renting and construction 		  158,142 			  128,222
	 Consumption 		  48,659 			  55,755
	 Others 	 	 95,511 		 	 45,109

	 Gross amount 	 	 976,960 			  522,856
	 Allowance for impairment 	 (	 123,328	) 	 ( 	 114,850	)

	 Carrying amount 	 	 853,632 		 	 408,006

			   	 2008 	 	 	 2007	
Collectively impaired
	 Wholesale and retail trade 	 	 104,388 			  34,662
	 Consumption 	 	 59,661 			  53,825
	 Others 	 	 70,851 		 	 79,516

	 Gross amount 	 	 234,900 			  168,003
	 Allowance for impairment 	 (	 62,246	) 	 ( 	 75,526	)

	 Carrying amount 	 	 172,654 		 	 92,477

Past due but not impaired
	 Carrying amount 	 	 90,598 		 	 31,272

Neither past due nor impaired
	 Carrying amount 	 	 7,739,972 		 	 9,791,560

Total carrying amount 	 P	  8,856,856 		 P 	 10,323,315

In addition, exposure to credit risk includes Investment Securities and Due from Other Banks amounting to P2,662.0 million and P163.4 million, 
respectively, in 2008 and P1,005.0 million and P919.2 million, respectively, in 2007. These are considered as neither past due nor impaired.

The carrying amount of the above loans and other receivables are secured by adequate amount of collateral mainly consisted of real estate 
mortgage. 

The Due from BSP account represents the aggregate balance of interest-bearing deposit accounts in local currency maintained by the Bank 
with the BSP primarily to meet reserve requirements and to serve as a clearing account for interbank claims. Hence, no significant credit risk 
is anticipated for this account.
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4.3 Market Risk

The Bank’s exposure to market risk, the risk of future loss from changes in the price of a financial instrument, relates primarily to its holdings 
in government securities, debt securities and various overnight lending with the BSP. The Bank manages its risk by identifying, analyzing and 
measuring relevant or likely market risks. As of December 31, 2008, the Bank has in place Risk Limit System whereby a stop loss limit is set for 
all risk-taking activities.

4.3.1 Foreign Exchange Risk

The Bank manages its exposure to effects of fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates by maintaining foreign currency exposure 
within the existing regulatory guidelines and at a level that it believes to be relatively conservative for a financial institution engaged in that 
type of business.

The Bank’s foreign exchange exposure is primarily limited to the foreign currency deposits, which are sourced from within the Philippines or 
generated from remittances by Filipino expatriates and overseas Filipino workers. Also, foreign exchange trading with corporate accounts and 
other financial institutions is a source of foreign exchange exposure for the Bank. At the end of each month, the Bank reports to the BSP on its 
acquisition and disposition of foreign currency resulting from its daily transactions.

The breakdown of the financial resources and liabilities as to foreign and peso-denominated balances as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 is 
as follows (amounts in thousands):

			   				    2008				  
				    Foreign
			   	 Currency 	 	 	 Peso 	 	 	 Total	
Financial Resources:
	 Cash and other cash items 	 P 	 36,579 		 P 	 151,667 		 P 	 188,246
	 Due from BSP 		  - 			  200,559 			  200,559
	 Due from other banks 		  51,467 			  111,945 			  163,412
	 Available-for-sale securities 		  153,585 			  294,847 			  448,432
	 Held-to-maturity investments 		  1,061,596 			  1,151,946 			  2,213,542
	 Loans and other receivables - net 		  287,810 			  8,569,046 			  8,856,856
	 Other resources 		  92,159 			  154,148 			  246,307

Financial Liabilities:
	 Deposit liabilities 		  1,621,158 			  8,761,549 			  10,382,707
	 Bills payable 		  - 			  407,473 			  407,473
	 Accrued expenses and other liabilities 		  7,505 			  788,400 			  795,905

			   				    2007				  
				    Foreign
			   	 Currency 	 	 	 Peso 	 	 	 Total	
Financial Resources:
	 Cash and other cash items 	 P 	 33,237 		 P 	 112,685 		 P 	 145,922
	 Due from BSP 		  - 			  387,567 			  387,567
	 Due from other banks 		  870,608 			  48,629 			  919,237
	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 		  - 			  29,491 			  29,491
	 Available-for-sale securities 		  577,292 			  398,229 			  975,521
	 Loans and other receivables - net 		  128,589 			  10,194,726 			  10,323,315
	 Other resources 		  - 			  6,277			    6,277

Financial Liabilities:
	 Deposit liabilities 		  1,422,000 			  9,482,985 			  10,904,985
	 Bills payable 		  - 			  651,724 			  651,724
	 Accrued expenses and other liabilities 		  88,879 			  481,442 			  570,321
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4.2.2 Interest Rate Risk

The Bank prepares gap analysis to measure the sensitivity of its resources, liabilities and off-statement of condition positions to interest 
rate fluctuations. The focus of analysis is the impact of changes in interest rates on accrual or reported earnings. This analysis would give 
management a glimpse of maturity and re-pricing profile of its interest sensitive resources and liabilities. An interest rate gap report is prepared 
by classifying all resources and liabilities into various time buckets according to contracted maturities or anticipated repricing dates, and other 
applicable behavioral assumptions. The difference in the amount of resources and liabilities maturing or being repriced in any time period 
category would then give the Bank an indication of the extent to which it is exposed to the risk of potential changes in net interest income.

To mitigate this risk, the Bank follows a prudent policy on managing assets and liabilities so as to ensure that exposure to interest rate risk are 
kept within acceptable levels.

The analyses of the groupings of resources, liabilities, capital funds and off-statement of condition items as of December 31 based on the 
expected interest realization or recognition are presented below (amounts in thousands):

	 	 2008	
											        Three
			  Less than 				 One to Three 			 Months 				  More than 				  Non-rate
		 	One Month 		 	Months to 	 		 One Year 	 		 	 One Year 	 		 	 Sensitive	 		 	  Total	

Resources:
	 Cash and other cash items 		 P 	 - 			  P 	 - 			  P 	 - 			  P 	 -			   P 	 188,246 			 P 	 188,246
	 Due from BSP 			  200,559 				  - 				   - 				   - 				   -				    200,559
	 Due from other banks 			  163,412 				  -				    - 				   - 				   -				    163,412
	 Investment securities 			  - 				   25,246 				  2,636,728 				  - 				   - 				   2,661,974
	 Loans and other 
		  receivables - net 			  6,874,249 				  549,601 				  565,480 				  867,526 				  - 				   8,856,856
	 Bank premises, furniture, fixtures
		  and equipment 			  -				    - 				   - 				   - 				   220,534 				  220,534
	 Investment properties 			  - 				   - 				   - 				   -				    278,827 				  278,827
	 Other resources	 		  -	 	 		  -	 	 		  - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 366,662 		 		 366,662

Total Resources 		 	 7,238,220 		 		 574,847 		 		 3,202,208 		 		 867,526 		 		 1,054,269 		 		12,937,070

	 	 2008	
											        Three
			  Less than 				 One to Three 			 Months 				  More than 				  Non-rate
		 	One Month 		 	Months to 	 		 One Year 	 		 	 One Year 	 		 	 Sensitive	 		 	  Total	

Liabilities and Capital Funds
	 Deposit liabilities 			  5,406,069 				  4,056,289 				  413,331 				  507,018 				  - 				  10,382,707
	 Bills payable 			  - 				   - 				   407,473 				  - 				   - 				   407,473
	 Accrued expenses and 
		  other liabilities 	 		 - 	 		 	 -	 	 		  - 	 	 		 -	 	 	 	 813,794 		 		 813,794

		  Total Liabilities 			  5,406,069 				  4,056,289 				  820,804 				  507,018 				  813,794 				 11,603,974

	 Capital Funds 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 1,333,096 		 		 1,333,096

Total Liabilities and
	 Capital Funds 	 		 5,406,069 		 		 4,056,289 		 		 820,804 		 		 507,018 		 		 2,146,890 		 		12,937,070

On-book Gap 		  		 1,832,151		 (	  3,481,442	) 	 		 2,381,404 		 		 360,508 		 (	 1,092,621	) 	 		 -	

Cumulative On-book Gap 	 		 1,832,151 		 ( 	 1,649,291	) 	 		 732,113 		 		 1,092,621		 		  - 	 	 		 -	

Contingent Resources 	 		 299,393 		 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 696,970 		 		 - 	 	 		 996,363

Contingent Liabilities 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 233 		 		 233

Off-book Gap 		  P	  299,393 		 	P 	 - 		 	P 	 - 		 	P 	 696,970 		 (P	  233	) 		 P 	 996,130

Net Periodic Gap 	 		 2,131,544 		 ( 	 3,481,442	) 	 		 2,381,404 		 		 1,057,478 		 (	 1,092,854	)	 (	 996,130	)

Cumulative Total Gap 		 P 	2,131,544 	 (P	1,349,898) 		 P 	1,031,506 		 P 	2,088,984 		 P 	 996,130 			 P	  -	
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	 	 2007	
											        Three
			  Less than 				 One to Three 			 Months 				  More than 				  Non-rate
		 	One Month 		 	Months to 	 		 One Year 	 		 	 One Year 	 		 	 Sensitive	 		 	  Total	

Resources:
	 Cash and other cash items 		 P 	 - 			  P 	 - 			  P 	 - 			  P 	 - 			  P 	 145,922 			 P 	 145,922
	 Due from BSP 			  387,567 				  - 				   - 				   - 				   - 				   387,567
	 Due from other banks 			  778,536 				  95,068 				  7,323 				  - 				   38,310 				  919,237
	 Investment securities 			  28 				  - 				   59,745 				  945,239 				  - 				   1,005,012
	 Loans and other 
		  Receivables - net 			  6,322,382 				  1,352,400 				  1,104,518 				  1,520,841				   23,174 				 10,323,315
	 Bank premises, furniture, fixtures
		  and equipment			   - 				   - 				   -				    -				    185,948 				  185,948
	 Investment properties			   - 				   -			   	 - 				   - 				   174,698 				  174,698
	 Other resources		 	  - 	 	 		 -	 	 		  - 	 	 		 - 	 		 	 236,400 		 		 236,400

Total Resources 		 	 7,488,513 		 		 1,447,468 		 		 1,171,586 		 		 2,466,080 		 		 804,452 		 		13,378,099

	 	 2007	
											        Three
			  Less than 				 One to Three 			 Months 				  More than 				  Non-rate
		 	One Month 		 	Months to 	 		 One Year 	 		 	 One Year 	 		 	 Sensitive	 		 	  Total	

Liabilities and Capital Funds
	 Deposit liabilities			   4,724,204 				  5,017,087				   500,373 				  458,854 				  204,467 				 10,904,985
	 Bills payable 			  302,924 				  56,005 				  43,498 				  245,297 				  4,000 				  651,724
	 Accrued expenses and 
		  other liabilities 		 	 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 583,177		 		  583,177

		  Total Liabilities 			  5,027,128 				  5,073,092 				  543,871				  704,151 				  791,644 				 12,139,886

	 Capital Funds 		 	 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		 1,238,213 		 		 1,238,213

Total Liabilities and Capital Funds 	 		 5,027,128 		 		 5,073,092		 	 	 543,871		 	 	 704,151		 		  2,029,857 		 		13,378,099

On-book Gap 		  		 2,461,385		 (	  3,625,624	) 	 		 627,715 		 		 1,761,929		 (	 1,225,405	)	 		  -	

Cumulative On-book Gap 	 		 2,461,385		 (	 1,164,239	) 	 (	 536,524	) 	 		 1,225,405 		 		 - 	 	 		 -	

Contingent Resources 	 		 240,307 		 		 33,000 		 		 18,495 		 		 17,525 		 		 3,226 		 		 312,553

Contingent Liabilities 	 		 -	 	 		  -	 	 		  -	 	 		  - 	 	 		 207,497		 		  207,497

Off-book Gap 		  		 240,307 		 		 33,000 		 		 18,945 		 		 17,525 		 (	 204,271	) 	 		 105,056

Net Periodic Gap 	 		 2,701,692 		 (	 3,592,624	) 	 		 646,210 		 		 1,779,454	 	 (	 1,429,676	) 	 (	 105,056	)

Cumulative Total Gap 		 P 	2,701,692		 (P	  890,932	) 	 (P	  244,722	) 		 P 	1,534,732 			 P 	 105,056 			 P 	 -	



45Annual Report 2008

The Bank’s market risk management limits are generally categorized as limits on:

• 	 Nominal position – an open risk position that is held as of any point in time expressed in terms of the nominal amount of the 
exposure.

•	  Loss limit - represents a ceiling on accumulated month-to-date losses.

• 	 Earnings-at-risk – this refers to the impact on Net Interest Income for a 12-month horizon of adverse movements in interest rates.

• 	 Value-at-risk – an estimate of the amount of loss that a given risk exposure is unlikely to exceed during a given time period, at a given 
level of statistical confidence. Analytically, VaR is the product of: (a) the sensitivity of the market value of the position to movement of 
the relevant market risk factors, and (b) the volatility of the market risk factor for the given time horizon at a specified level of statistical 
confidence. Typically, the Bank uses a 95% confidence level for this measurement. VaR is used as a risk measure for trading positions, 
which are marked-to-market (as opposed to exposures resulting from banking, or accrual, book assets and liabilities). Fixed Income 
VaR uses a defeasance period assessed periodically as appropriate to allow an orderly unwinding of the position. VaR models are back-
tested to ensure results remain consistent with the expectations based on the chosen statistical confidence level.

Stress Testing, which uses more severe rate/price volatility, and/or holding period assumptions, (relative to those used for VaR) is applied to 
marked-to-market positions to arrive at “worst case” loss estimates. This supplements the VaR measure, in
recognition of its limitations already mentioned earlier.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give rise to some limitations, 
including the following:

• 	 A 1-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within that period. This is considered to be 
a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a 
prolonged period.

• 	 A 95% confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even within the model used, there is a five 
percent probability that losses could exceed the VaR.

• 	 VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and does not reflect exposures that may arise on positions during the trading day. 

•	  The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes may not always cover all possible 
scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature.

• 	 The VaR measure is dependent upon the Bank’s position and the volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged position 
reduces if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.

The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognized by supplementing VaR limits with other position and sensitivity limit structures, 
including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading portfolio. In addition, the Bank uses a wide range of stress tests to 
model the financial impact of a variety of exceptional market scenarios on individual trading portfolios and the Bank’s overall position.

Stress VaR is also performed on all portfolios as a complementary measure of risk. While VaR deals with risk during times of normality, stress 
testing is used to measure the potential effect of a crisis or low probability event.

In 2008, the Bank reclassified its financial assets at FVTPL and certain AFS securities to HTM investments. As majority of the Bank’s investments 
are classified as HTM investments, the Bank’s exposure to market risk is limited to interest rate risk. Accordingly, the Bank assessed that interest 
gap analysis as shown in the previous pages is more relevant in evaluating the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2008.
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A summary of the VaR position of the trading portfolios at December 31, 2007 follows:
	 	 VaR	

Financial assets at FVTPL 	 P 	 401,773
Available-for-sale securities 	 	 1,398,087

	 P	  1,799,860

	 	 Stress VaR	
	 	 	 100 bps increase 	 	 		 300 bps increase 	 500 bps increase
Financial assets at FVTPL 	 (P	  176,989	) 	 (P	  1,274,591	) 	 (P	  2,297,827	)
Available-for-sale securities 	 (		 3,048,637	)	 (	 	 11,469,940	) 	 ( 	 19,308,680	)
	 (P	  3,225,626	) 	 (P	  12,744,531	) 	 (P	  21,606,507	)

 
4.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that there are insufficient funds available to adequately meet the credit demands of the Bank’s customers and repay 
deposits on maturity. The Bank manages liquidity risk by holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to ensure short-term funding 
requirements are met and by maintaining a balanced loan portfolio which is repriced on a regular basis. In addition, the Bank seeks to maintain 
sufficient liquidity to take advantage of interest rate and exchange rate opportunities when they arise.

The analysis of the concentration of resources, liabilities, capital funds and offstatement of condition items as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 
is presented below (amounts in thousands):

	 	 2008	
		  Less than 			   One to 			   Three 			   More
		  One 			   Three			    Months to			    than
	 	 Month 			   Months 			   One Year 			   One Year 			   Total	

Resources:
	 Cash and other cash items 		  P 	 188,246 		 P 	 - 			   P 	 - 			  P 	 - 			   P 	 188,246
	 Due from BSP 			   200,559 				  -				     - 				   -				     200,559
	 Due from other banks 			   163,412 				  -				     - 				   - 				    163,412
	 Investment securities			    2,661,974				   - 				    - 				   -				    2,661,974
	 Loans and other receivables 			   3,493,069 				  2,679,137 				   1,803,216 				  881,434 				   8,856,856
	 Bank premises, furniture,
		  fixtures and equipment 			   - 				   - 				    - 				   220,534				    220,534
	 Investment properties 			   - 				   - 				    - 				   278,827				    278,827
	 Other resources 		  	 54,830 			 	 70,505 			  	 2,971 		 		 238,356 			  	 366,662	

Total Resources 		  P 	 6,762,090 		 P 	 2,749,642 			  P 	 1,806,187 		 P 	 1,619,151 			  P 	 12,937,070	

Liabilities and Capital Funds
	 Deposit liabilities 			   5,925,829 				  3,636,804 				   611,642 				  208,432 				   10,382,707
	 Bills payable 			   102,199 				  94,800 				   1,800 				  208,674 				   407,473
	 Accrued expenses and
		  other liabilities 		  	 573,818 		 		 15,011 		 		  10,103 		 		 214,862 		 		  813,794	
Total Liabilities		  	  6,601,846 		 		 3,746,615 		 		  623,545 		 		 631,968 		 		  11,603,974	

	 Capital Funds 		  	 - 	 	 		 - 	 	 		  -	  	 		 1,333,096 		 		  1,333,096	

Total Liabilities and Capital Funds 		  	 6,601,846 		 		 3,746,615 		 		  623,545 		 		 1,965,064 		 		  12,937,070	

On-book Gap 		  	 160,244 		 ( 	 996,973	) 	 		  1,182,642	 	 (	 345,913	) 	 		  -	

Cumulative On-book Gap 		  	 160,244 		 (	 836,729	) 	 		  345,913 		 		 - 	 	 		  -	

Contingent Resources 			   281,862 				  - 				    2,076 				  712,425 				   996,363

Contingent Liabilities 		  	 232,658 		 		 - 	 	 		  - 	 	 		 -	 	 		   232,658

Off-book Gap 		  	 49,204 		 		 - 	 	 		  2,076 		 		 712,425 		 		  763,705
Net Periodic Gap 		  	 209,448 		 (	  996,973	) 	 		  1,184,718 		 		 368,302 		 (	 	 763,705	)

Cumulative Total Gap 		  	 P 209,448 		 (	 P 787,525	) 		  P 	 397,193 		 P 	 763,705 		 	 P	  -	
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	 	 2007	
		  Less than 			   One to 			   Three 			   More	
		  One 			   Three 			   Months 			   to than	
	 	 Month 	 	 	 Months 	 	 	 One Year 	 	 	 One Year 	 	 	 Total	

Resources:
	 Cash and other cash items 		  P 	 145,922 		 P 	 - 			   P 	 -		   P 	 - 			   P 	 145,922
	 Due from BSP 			   387,567 				  - 				    - 				   - 				    387,567
	 Due from other banks 			   816,846 				  95,068 				   7,323 				  - 				    919,237
	 Investment securities 			   28			  	 - 				    59,745 				  945,239 				   1,005,012
	 Loans and other receivables 			   6,322,382 				  1,355,510 				   1,124,582 				  1,520,841 				   10,323,315
	 Bank premises, furniture,
		  fixtures and equipment 			   - 				   - 				    - 				   185,948 				   185,948
	 Investment properties 			   -				    - 				    -				    174,698 				   174,698
	 Other resources 		  	 41,497	 		 	 -	  		  	 333 		 		 194,570 			  	 236,400

Total Resources 		  	 7,714,242 		 		 1,450,578	  		  	 1,191,983 		 		 3,021,296 			  	 13,378,099

Liabilities and Capital Funds
	 Deposit liabilities 		  P	 4,928,672 		 P	 5,017,087			   P	  500,373 		 P	 458,853	  		  P	 10,904,985
	 Bills payable 			   306,924 				  56,005 				   43,498 				  245,297	  			   651,724
	 Accrued expenses and 
		  other liabilities 		  	 472,568 		 		 11,799 			  	 97,264 		 		 1,546	  		  	 583,177
Total Liabilities 	  		 5,708,164 		 		 5,084,891 			  	 641,135 		 		 705,696 			  	 12,139,886

	 Capital Funds 		  	 -	  		 	 -	  		  	 -	  		 	 1,238,213 			  	 1,238,213

Total Liabilities and
	 Capital Funds 		  	 5,708,164 		 		 5,084,891 			  	 641,135 		 		 1,943,909 			  	 13,378,099

On-book Gap 		  	 2,006,078 		 ( 	 3,634,313	) 		  	 550,848 		 		 1,077,387 			  	 -	

Cumulative On-book Gap		   	 2,006,078 		 (	  1,628,235	) 	 ( 	 1,077,387	) 		  	 -	 		   	 -	

Contingent Resources 			   243,533 				  33,000	  			   18,495 				  17,525 				   312,553

Contingent Liabilities		  	 49,653 		 		 157,844 		 		  -	  		 	 -	 		  	 207,497

Off-book Gap 		  	 193,880 		 (	 124,844	) 	 		  18,495 		 		 17,525 			  	 105,056

Net Periodic Gap 		  	 2,199,958 		 (	 3,759,157	) 	 		  569,343			 	 1,094,912		  (	 	 105,506	)

Cumulative total Gap 		  P 	 2,199,958 		 (P	  1,559,199	) 	 (P	 989,856	) 	 (P	  105,056	) 		  P 	 -	

5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND REGULATORY CAPITAL

The Bank’s lead regulator, the BSP, sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank. In implementing current capital requirements, the BSP 
requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets.

Under current banking regulations, the combined capital accounts of each bank should not be less than an amount equal to ten percent of its 
risk assets. The qualifying capital of the Bank for purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets ratio is total capital funds excluding:

a. 	 unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the BSP;
b. 	 total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to directors, officers, stockholders and related 
	 interests (DOSRI);
c. 	 deferred tax asset or liability;
d. 	 goodwill;
e. 	 sinking fund for redemption of redeemable preferred shares; and
f. 	 other regulatory deductions.

Risk assets consist of total assets after exclusion of cash on hand, due from BSP, loans covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans 
or acceptances under letters of credit to the extent covered by margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the Monetary 
Board of the BSP.
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The amount of surplus funds available for dividend declaration is determined also on the basis of regulatory net worth after considering 
certain adjustments.

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholder’s return is also recognized and the Bank recognizes the need 
to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by 
a sound capital position.

A bank’s regulatory capital is analyzed into two tiers, which are Tier 1 Capital plus Tier 2 Capital less deductions from the total of Tier 1 and Tier 
2 capital for the following:

a. 	 Investments in equity of unconsolidated subsidiary banks and other financial allied undertakings, but excluding insurance 
companies;

b. 	 Investments in debt capital instruments of unconsolidated subsidiary banks;
c. 	 Investments in equity of subsidiary insurance companies and non-financial allied undertakings;
d.	  Reciprocal investments in equity of other banks/enterprises; and
e. 	 Reciprocal investments in unsecured subordinated term debt instruments of other banks/quasi-banks qualifying as Hybrid Tier 1, 

Upper Tier 2 and Lower Tier 2, in excess of the lower of (i) an aggregate ceiling of 5% of total Tier 1 capital of the bank excluding Hybrid 
Tier 1; or (ii) 10% of the total outstanding unsecured subordinated term debt issuance of the other bank/quasi-banks,

provided, that any asset deducted from the qualifying capital in computing the numerator of the risk-based capital ratio shall not be included 
in the risk-weighted assets in computing the denominator of the ratio.

There have been no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the period.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with the capital-to-risk assets ratio (see Note 24).

Under an existing BSP circular, thrift and savings banks are required to comply with the minimum capital requirement of P64.0 million. As of 
the dates of the statements of condition, the Bank has complied with the above capitalization requirement.

6. DUE FROM OTHER BANKS

The balance of this account represents deposits with the following:
	 	 2008	  	 	 2007	
Local banks 	 P 	 132,732,248 	 P 	 592,462,069
Foreign banks 	 	 30,679,532 	 	 326,775,204

	 P 	 163,411,780 	 P	  919,237,273

Interest rates on these deposits range from 0.50% to 3.00% and 1.00% to 5.50% per annum in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The breakdown of due from other banks by currency is as follows:

	 	 2008	  	 	 2007	
US dollar 	 P 	 51,467,300 	 P 	 870,607,993
Peso 	 	 111,944,480 	 	 48,629,280

	 P 	 163,411,780 	 P 	 919,237,273

As of December 31, 2007, due from other banks include time deposit with a foreign bank amounting to US$7.8 million or P322.8 million used 
to guarantee a certain revolving credit facility (see Note 22).

For cash flow purposes, the balance of P5.2 million as of December 31, 2007 is not included as cash and cash equivalents since these have 
maturities of more than three months (see Note 25).
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7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at FVTPL as of December 31, 2007 and prior to reclassification discussed in the succeeding paragraphs, represent various 
treasury bills and other securities issued by the Philippine Government which earned annual interest ranging from 6.88% to 9.13% and 
6.88% to 11.63% in 2008 and 2007, respectively. Amounts resented as of December 31, 2007 have been determined directly by reference to 
published price quoted in an active market.

Prior to September 11, 2008, the Bank holds investments in debt securities acquired as temporary investments which may be disposed of 
anytime. Beginning third quarter of 2008, the Bank has felt the effects of the deterioration of the global financial market which resulted in 
continuing drop in prices of the Bank’s investments in debt securities. In view of this condition, the Bank no longer intends to sell and dispose 
these securities until maturity.

Pursuant to the amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7 and as allowed by the BSP and SEC, the Bank reclassified its investments in debt securities 
previously classified as financial assets at FVTPL to HTM category with carrying amount of P18.8 million, representing the fair value of the 
reclassified investments on September 11, 2008, the effective date of reclassification (see Note 9). 

The Bank recognized fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL amounting to P0.7 million and P0.2 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, 
which were shown as part of Trading Gains in the income statements.

8. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

This account is composed of government securities with fair value of P448.4 million and P975.5 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. 

As to currency, the account is composed of the following:

	 	 2008	 	 	  2007	
Peso 	 P 	 294,847,074 	 P 	 398,229,420
Foreign currency 	 	 153,584,640 	 	 577,291,631

	 P 	 448,431,714 	 P 	 975,521,051
Changes in the AFS securities are summarized below.

	 	 Note 	 	 	 2008 	 	 	 2007	
Balance at beginning of year 					     P	  975,521,051 			  P	  1,577,358,709
Additions 					     	 1,795,508,555 				   290,259,591
Fair value gains (losses) 				    ( 	 112,550,017	) 			   59,078,219
Reclassification to held-to-maturity investments 		  9	  	 ( 	 2,130,809,910	) 			   -
Disposals				    (	 	 79,237,965	)	 ( 	 951,175,468	)

Balance at end of year 				    	 P 	 448,431,714 			  P 	 975,521,051

The reconciliation of fair value gains (losses) on AFS securities recognized in capital funds is shown below.

				    	 2008 	 			  	 2007	
Balance at beginning of year 		  P 	 70,499,978 			  P 	 49,376,342
Changes during the year:
	 Fair value gains (losses) during the year 	 ( 	 112,550,017	) 			   59,078,219
	 Realized fair value losses (gains) on AFS
		  securities disposed during the year 		  	 21,791,634 		 ( 	 37,954,583	)
	 Amortization of fair value losses on
		  reclassified AFS securities 	 ( 	 543,694	) 			   -
			   ( 	 91,302,077	) 		  	 21,123,636

Balance at end of year 	 (P 	 20,802,099	) 		  P 	 70,499,978
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Available-for-sale securities earn interest of 5.50% to 12.38% per annum in 2008 and 7.75% to 12.38% per annum in 2007.

Fair value losses on outstanding AFS securities recognized in capital funds amounted to P29.2 million and P59.1 million in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. Fair value losses on reclassified available-for-sale securities amounted to P83.3 million in 2008. Fair value losses recognized to 
income from disposal of available-for-sale securities amounted to P21.8 million in 2008 and fair value gains recognized to income from disposal 
of available-for-sale securities amounted to P38.0 million in 2007 and are recorded as part of Trading Gains in the income statements.

In connection with the reclassifications of financial assets availed by the Bank pursuant to amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7 and as allowed 
by the BSP and SEC, certain available-for-sale securities with fair value of P2,130.8 million including fair value loss of P36.1 million as of date of 
reclassification, were reclassified to held-to-maturity investments (see Note 9).

The fair values of available-for-sale securities have been determined directly by reference to published prices in an active market.

9. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

In 2006, the Bank’s held-to-maturity investments were reclassified to Available-for-sale Securities account after the Bank sold a significant 
portion of its held-to-maturity investments. Due to the disposal of a significant portion of its held-to-maturity investments, the Bank is not 
allowed to classify any of its financial assets at HTM investments for at least two full years upon tainting of these investments. 

In 2008, however, the BSP under Circular No. 628 allowed the reclassification of financial assets previously classified as AFS securities due 
to tainting of HTM investments portfolio back to HTM category for prudential reporting purposes which was also approved by the SEC for 
financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, the Bank has reclassified certain financial assets previously classified at FVTPL (see Note 7) and AFS 
securities (see Note 8) to HTM investments.

The movements in the carrying amount of HTM investments during the year follow:

	 	 Notes	
Balance at beginning of year 				    P	  -	
Reclassification from financial assets at FVTPL 		  7 				   18,809,518
Reclassification from AFS 		  8 			   2,130,809,910
Amortization of discount 				    		 63,922,390

Balance at end of year 				    P 	 2,213,541,818

The carrying amounts of HTM investments as of December 31, 2008 include the unamortized fair value losses amounting to P36.6 million, 
related to debt securities reclassified from AFS category (see Note 8). This amount will be amortized over the
remaining life of the reclassified investments.

In compliance with the current banking regulations relative to the Bank’s trust functions, certain held-to-maturity investments of the Bank, 
with fair value of P17.5 million, are deposited with BSP (see Note 23).

10. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Loans and other receivables consist of the following:
				    	 	 2008	  			  	 2007	
Loans and discounts:
	 Loans and discounts 	 	 P 	6,136,259,526 		 P 	 4,376,205,035
	 Bills purchased 	 		  634,299,980 				   385,087,689
	 Customers’ liabilities on acceptances, letters of credit and trust receipts 		  	 647,841,734 			  	 453,104,637
				    		  7,418,401,240 				   5,214,397,361
Unearned discount 	 (	 	 10,730,792	)	 (	 	 14,451,714	)

					     	 7,407,670,448 			  	 5,199,945,647
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Other receivables:
	 Interbank loans receivables	 		   1,266,000,000 				   4,992,000,000
	 Unquoted debt securities 	 		  272,132,629 				   232,505,830
	 Accrued interest receivable 	 		  91,514,390 				   47,249,094
	 Deficiency claims receivable 	 		  9,422,531 				   19,954,119
	 Accounts receivable 	 		  2,762,239 				   3,109,758
	 Sales contract receivable 		  	 -	  			  	 110,000
				    		  9,049,502,237 				   10,494,874,448
Allowance for impairment losses 	 (		  192,646,011 	)	 (		  171,559,805	)

					     P	 8,856,856,226	  		  	P 10,323,314,643

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, nonperforming loans amounted to P373.6 million and P404.0 million, respectively, while restructured 
loans amounted to P22.1 million and P39.6 million, respectively.

The maturity profile of the Bank’s loans and discounts follows (amounts in thousands):

		  	 2008 		  		  	 2007		
Within one year		  P 	 6,559,783			   P 	 3,541,882
Beyond one year 		  	 858,618 			  	 1,672,515

		  P 	 7,418,401 			  P 	 5,214,397

The Bank’s concentration of credit as to industry for its loan and discounts portfolio follows (amounts in thousands):

		  	 2008	  			  	 2007	
Wholesale and retail trade 		  P 	 1,585,727 			  P 	 1,414,476
Real estate, renting and business activities 			   1,297,778 				   270,158
Manufacturing (various industries) 			   1,167,701 				   1,470,997
Agriculture 			   665,251 				   156,098
Construction 		  	 164,725 				   384,392
Others 		  	 2,537,219 			  	 1,518,276

				    P 	 7,418,401 			  P 	 5,214,397

As to security, loans and discounts are classified into (amounts in thousands):
		  	 2008	  			  	 2007	
Secured:
	 Real estate mortgage 		  P 	 2,359,009 			  P 	 1,836,509
	 Chattel mortgage 		  	 656,300 				   555,655
	 Deposit hold-out 			   392,545 				   184,040
	 Others 			   1,314,309 				   182,929
Unsecured 		  	 2,696,238 			  	 2,455,264

				    P 	 7,418,401 			  P 	 5,214,397
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The changes in the allowance for impairment losses on loans and other receivables are summarized below.

		  	 2008	  			  	 2007	

Balance at beginning of year 	 	 P 	 171,559,805 			  P	  155,152,861
Provision for impairment losses 	 		  42,707,904 				   16,406,944
Write-offs 	 ( 	 21,621,698	) 		  	 -

		  P 	 192,646,011 			  P	  171,559,805

Of the total loans and discounts of the Bank as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 75.00% and 71.00%, respectively, are subject to periodic 
interest repricing. Effective interest rates of the remaining loans and discounts range from 8.90% to 16.32% in 2008 and 9.00% to 17.00% in 
2007.

11. BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT

The gross carrying amounts and the accumulated depreciation and amortization of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment at the 
beginning and end of 2008 and 2007 are shown below.

								        Furniture, 			  Trans-			  Leasehold
								       Fixtures and 		  portation 			  Improve-
	 	 Land 	 	 	 Building 	 	 	Equipment		 	  Equipment 	 	 ments 	 	 	 Total	
December 31, 2008
	 Cost 			  P 	75,600,000 			  P 	86,587,328 			  P 	112,887,751 			   P	 29,242,807 			   P 	61,052,449 			
P	 365,370,335
	 Accumulated
		  depreciation and
		  amortization 		  	 - 		 ( 	 19,517,330	) 	 ( 	 76,323,169	) 	 ( 	 15,880,799	) 	 ( 	 33,115,083	) 	 ( 	144,836,381	)

	 Net carrying amount 		  P	 75,600,000 		  P 	67,069,998 		  P 	36,564,582 		  P 	13,362,008 		  P 	27,937,366 		   P220,533,954

								        Furniture, 			  Trans-			  Leasehold
								       Fixtures and 		  portation 			  Improve-
	 	 Land 	 	 	 Building 	 	 	Equipment		 	  Equipment 	 	 ments 	 	 	 Total	
December 31, 2007
	 Cost 			  P 	58,500,000 			  P	 85,069,710 			  P 	95,046,109 			  P	 22,054,629 			  P 	52,548,110 			  P 	313,218,558
	 Accumulated
		  depreciation and
		  amortization 		  	 -	  	 ( 	 17,702,734	) 	 ( 	 69,275,082	)	  ( 	 12,178,726	)	 ( 	 28,114,169	) 	 ( 	127,270,711	)

	 Net carrying amount 		  P 	58,500,000 			  P	 67,366,976 			  P 	25,771,027 			  P	  9,875,903			   P 	24,433,941 			  P 	185,947,847

January 1, 2007
	 Cost 			  P 	58,500,000 			  P 	84,941,750 			  P	 80,279,448 			  P 	16,891,170 			  P 	35,252,353 			  P 	275,864,721
	 Accumulated
		  depreciation and
		  amortization 		  	 - 		 ( 	 15,896,261	) 	 (		 64,652,357	) 	 ( 	 8,689,633	) 	 ( 	 24,017,386	) 	 ( 	113,255,637	)

	 Net carrying amount 		  P	 58,500,000 			  P	 69,045,489 			  P	 15,627,091 			  P 	 8,201,537 			  P 	11,234,967 			  P 	162,609,084
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A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2008 and 2007 is shown below.

								        Furniture, 			  Trans-			  Leasehold
								       Fixtures and 		  portation 			  Improve-
	 	 Land 	 	 	 Building 	 	 	Equipment		 	  Equipment 	 	 ments 	 	 	 Total	
Balance at
	 January 1, 2008,
		  net of accumulated
		  depreciation and
		  amortization 		  P 	58,500,000 			  P 	67,366,976 			  P 	25,771,027 			  P 	 9,875,903 			  P 	24,433,941 			  P 	185,947,847
Net additions			    17,100,000 				   1,517,618 				   17,841,642 				   7,188,178 				   8,504,339 				   52,151,777
Depreciation and
	 amortization charges
	 for the year		  	  - 		 (	 	 1,814,596	)	 ( 	 7,048,087	) 	 ( 	 3,702,073	) 	 ( 	 5,000,914	) 	 ( 	 17,565,670	)
Balance at
	 December 31, 2008,
		  net of accumulated
		  depreciation and
		  amortization 		  P 	75,600,000 		  P 	67,069,998		  P	 36,564,582 		  P 	13,362,008 		  P	 27,937,366 		   P220,533,954

Balance at
	 January 1, 2007,
		  net of accumulated
		  depreciation and
		  amortization 		  P 	58,500,000 			  P 	69,045,489 			  P	 15,627,091 			  P 	 8,201,537 			  P	 11,234,967 			  P	162,609,084
Net additions 			   - 				   115,692 				   15,439,815 				   5,370,660 				   17,295,757 				   38,221,924
Depreciation and
	 amortization charges
	 for the year 		  	 - 		 (	 	 1,794,205	) 	 ( 	 5,295,879	) 	 ( 	 3,696,294	) 	 (	 	 4,096,783	) 	 ( 	 14,883,161	)
Balance at
	 December 31, 2007,
		  net of accumulated
		  depreciation and
		  amortization		   P	 58,500,000 			  P 	67,366,976 			  P 	25,771,027			    P 	 9,875,903 			  P 	24,433,941 			  P	185,947,847

The BSP requires that investment in bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment do not exceed 50% of the Bank’s unimpaired capital. As 
of December 31, 2008, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with this requirement.
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties include land and buildings held for capital appreciation.

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and impairment at the beginning and end of 2008 and 2007 are shown below.

				   						    Buildings and
				   	 Land 	 			 	 Improvements	 		  		 Total	
December 31, 2008
	 Cost 		 P	  249,987,475			 P 	 56,668,170 		 P	  306,655,645
	 Accumulated depreciation 			  -	  		 ( 	 12,946,890	) 	 ( 	 12,946,890	)
	 Accumulated impairment 	 ( 	 12,083,605	) 	 (	 2,797,521	) 	 ( 	 14,881,126	)

	 Net carrying amount 		 P 	 237,903,870 		 P	  40,923,759 		 P	  278,827,629	

				   						    Buildings and
				   	 Land 	 			 	 Improvements	 		  		 Total	
December 31, 2007
	 Cost 		 P 	 154,179,255 		 P 	 41,992,115 		 P 	 196,171,370
	 Accumulated depreciation 			  -	  		 ( 	 10,178,488	) 	 ( 	 10,178,488	)
	 Accumulated impairment 	 	(	  9,314,321	) 	 ( 	 1,980,806	) 	 ( 	 11,295,127	)

Net carrying amount 		 P 	 144,864,934 		 P	  29,832,821 		 P	 174,697,755	

January 1, 2007
	 Cost 		 P 	 158,323,624 		 P 	 53,121,458 		 P 	 211,445,082
	 Accumulated depreciation	  		 -		  	 (	  8,019,903	) 	 (	 8,019,903	)
	 Accumulated impairment 	 ( 	 6,314,900	) 	 ( 	 1,675,457	) 	 (	 7,990,357	)

Net carrying amount 		 P	  152,008,724 		 P 	 43,426,098 		 P 	 195,434,822

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2008 and 2007 is shown below.

				   						    Buildings and
				   	 Land 	 			 	 Improvements	 		  		 Total	
Balance at January 1, 2008,
	 net of accumulated
	 depreciation and impairment 		 P	  144,864,934 		 P	  29,832,820 		 P 	 174,697,754
Additions 				  107,582,000 				  49,400,090 				  156,982,090
Disposals 		 ( 	 11,773,780	) 	 ( 	 34,724,035	) 	 (	 46,497,815	)
Depreciation for the year 			  -			  ( 	 2,768,402	) 	 (	 2,768,402	)
Impairment loss for the year 	 (	  2,769,284	) 	 (	 816,714	) 	 (	 3,585,998	)

Balance at December 31, 2008,
	 net of accumulated
	 depreciation and impairment 		 P	  237,903,870 		 P 	 40,923,759 		 P 	 278,827,629
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				   						    Buildings and
				   	 Land 	 			 	 Improvements	 		  		 Total	
Balance at January 1, 2007,
	 net of accumulated
	 depreciation and impairment 		 P	  152,008,724 		 P 	 43,426,098 		 P 	 195,434,822
Additions 				  27,046,040 				  2,696,321 				  29,742,361
Disposals 		 ( 	 31,190,409	)	 ( 	 11,857,297	) 	 ( 	 43,047,706	)
Depreciation for the year 			  -	  		 ( 	 4,126,951	) 	 (	 4,126,951	)
Impairment loss for the year 	 (	  2,999,421	) 	 ( 	 305,350	) 	 ( 	 3,304,771	)

Balance at December 31, 2007,
	 net of accumulated
	 depreciation and impairment 		 P 	 144,864,934 		 P	  29,832,821 		 P 	 174,697,755

The fair value of investment properties as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P403.6 million and P198.0 million, respectively, based 
on the latest appraised values of the investment properties.

13. OTHER RESOURCES

This account consists of:
				   	 Note 	 			 	 2008 	 			 	 2007	

Deferred tax assets - net 			  21 		 	 P	  60,243,038 		 P 	 79,964,046
Receivable from Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) 							    54,350,571 				  56,304,822
Foreign currency notes and checks on hand 							    36,577,544 				  33,237,282
Branch licenses 						   	 27,276,667 				  20,000,000
Other properties held for sale - net 							    20,015,873 				  2,942,732
Returned checks 							    18,272,259 				  28,721,107
Deferred charges 							    17,643,424 				  17,643,424
Other deposit 							    16,000,000 				  -	
Stationery and supplies 							    2,970,782 				  3,585,720
Miscellaneous 						   	 131,944,931 			 	 12,634,624
								     	 385,295,089 				  255,033,757
Allowance for impairment losses 					   ( 	 18,633,354	) 	 (	 18,633,354	)

							     	P 	 366,661,735 		 P 	 236,400,403

Receivable from BIR pertains to claims from BIR for overpayment of taxes.

Branch licenses pertain to the Bank’s acquisition of the licenses of Prime Savings Bank, Inc.’s four branches for a total consideration of P20.0 
million in prior years and acquisition of additional branch license in 2008 totaling P7.3 million.

Other properties held for sale are presented net of accumulated depreciation amounting to P2.7 million and P1.0 million in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. 

Deferred charges pertain to prepaid taxes that are fully provided with allowance since the Bank assessed that these prepaid taxes are no longer 
recoverable. 

Other deposit pertains to the amount paid by the Bank in favor of the stockholders of KRBI in connection with the agreed consideration for 
the purchase of the net assets of KRBI (see Note 1.2).
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The changes in the allowance for impairment losses on other resources are summarized below.
 

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Balance at beginning of year 	 	 P 	 18,633,354 			  P	  42,179,084
Accounts written off 		  	 -	  		 ( 	 23,545,730	)

		  P 	 18,633,354 			  P	  18,633,354

14. DEPOSIT LIABILITIES

The maturity profile of the Bank’s deposit liabilities follows:
		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Within one year 	 	 P10,174,274,880 		  P 	 10,446,131,136
Beyond one year 		  	 208,431,965 			  	 458,854,280

		  P 	10,382,706,845 		 P	  10,904,985,416

The classification of the Bank’s deposit liabilities as to currency follows:

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Foreign		  P 	 1,621,157,886 			  P	  1,422,000,228
Peso 		  	 8,761,548,959 		 	 	 9,482,985,188

		  P 	10,382,706,845 		 P 	 10,904,985,416
 

Interest rates on deposit liabilities range between 0.50% to 5.50% per annum in 2008 and 0.50% to 6.00% per annum in 2007.

The fair values of deposit liabilities have not been disclosed as management considers the carrying amount recognized in the statements of 
condition to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

15. BILLS PAYABLE

The maturity profile of bills payable follows:

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Within one year 		  P 	 198,798,537 			  P	  406,426,889
Beyond one year 		  	 208,674,108 			  	 245,297,456

		  P	  407,472,645 			  P 	 651,724,345

Bills payable as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are all peso-denominated.

Bills payable are subject to interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 9.00% per annum in 2008 and 3.67% to 12.38% per annum in 2007.
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16. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

The breakdown of this account follows:

				   	 Note 	 			 	 2008 	 			 	 2007	  
Sundry credits 							    P 	 623,732,935 		 P 	 372,103,046
Manager’s checks 								     21,815,667 				  40,699,527
Retirement benefit obligation 			  19.2 					   17,888,784 				  12,854,517
Accrued expenses 								     6,918,082 				  18,683,425
Others 				   21.2 			  		 143,438,438 		 		 138,835,211

									      P 	 813,793,906 		 P 	 583,175,726

Sundry credits pertain to bills purchase line availments which are settled on the third day from the transaction date.

17. CAPITAL FUNDS

17.1 Capital Stock

Capital stock as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 consists of:
				    	 Shares 	 			   	 Amount		
				    	 2008 	 			   	 2007 	 			   	 2008 	 			   	 2007		
Preferred shares – P100 par value
	 Authorized – 3,000,000 shares
	 Issued and outstanding 		  	 1,200,000 			  	 1,200,000 			  P	120,000,000 		  P 	120,000,000

Common shares – P100 par value
	 Authorized – 7,000,000 shares
	 Issued and outstanding		  	  4,200,000 			  	 4,200,000 			  P 	420,000,000 			  P 420,000,000

The Bank’s preferred shares are nonvoting, nonconvertible and are redeemable at theoption of the Bank. These shares are entitled to non 
cumulative dividend of 8% per annum. The dividends for preferred shares are declared upon the sole discretion of the Bank’s BOD.

As of December 31, 2008, the Bank has seven stockholders owning 100 or more shares each of the Bank’s capital stock.

17.2 Appropriated Surplus

Appropriated surplus consists of:
		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Reserve for redemption of preferred shares 		  P	  120,000,000 			  P 	 111,833,333
Reserve for self-insurance 	 	 	 8,100,000 			  	 6,900,000

		  P 	 128,100,000 			  P 	 118,733,333

On August 16, 2003, the BOD approved the establishment of a sinking fund for the exclusive purpose of the redemption of redeemable 
preferred shares should the Bank opt to redeem the shares.

As of December 31, 2008, the sinking fund for the redemption of redeemable preferred shares is yet to be established.
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18. MISCELLANEOUS INCOME AND EXPENSES

18.1 Miscellaneous Income

This account is composed of the following:
		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Gain on foreclosure of investment properties 	 	 P 	 47,001,956 			  P 	 7,799,158	
Foreign exchange gain 			   4,349,246 				   -	
Trust fees 			   3,257,905 				   7,724,948	
Gain on disposal of investment properties - net 			   -	  				   5,012,246	
Miscellaneous 		  	 382,742 			  	 16,906,342	

		  P 	 54,991,849 			  P 	 37,442,694	

18.2 Miscellaneous Expenses

This account is composed of the following:

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Representation and entertainment 	 	 P 	 16,185,603 			  P 	 13,548,563
Litigation 			   12,118,024 				   5,469,029
Loss on disposal of investment properties - net 			   11,806,820 				   -
Communication			    6,814,999 				   5,816,743
Banking fees 			   4,272,053 				   3,604,046
Supplies			    4,181,701 				   3,952,264
Donations and contributions 			   1,759,320 				   66,500
Foreign exchange loss 			   - 					     7,260,098
Miscellaneous 		  	 22,322,034 			  	 120,866,221

		  P 	 79,460,554 			  P 	 160,583,464

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

19.1 Employee Benefits

Expense recognized for employee benefits is analyzed below:

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Salaries and wages 		  P 	 73,095,613 			  P 	 61,502,893
Bonuses 			   23,290,186 				   19,334,214
Retirement – defined benefit plan 			   6,168,086 				   9,123,349
Social security costs 			   4,629,783 				   4,069,357
Short-term medical benefits 			   442,350 				   364,131
Others 		  	 10,056,112 			  	 6,088,220

		  P 	 117,682,130 			  P 	 100,482,164
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19.2 Employee Retirement Benefit Obligation

The Bank maintains a tax-qualified, noncontributory retirement plan that is being administered by a trustee covering all regular full-time 
employees. Actuarial valuations are made regularly to update the retirement benefit costs and the amount of contributions.

The amounts of retirement benefit obligation recognized and included as part of Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities account in the 
statements of condition are determined as follows (see Note 16):

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Present value of the obligation 	 	 P 	 28,059,831 			  P 	 27,758,716
Fair value of plan assets 	 ( 	 11,774,987	) 	 ( 	 14,502,778	)
Deficiency of plan assets 			   16,284,844 				   13,255,938
Unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) 		  	 1,603,940 		 ( 	 401,421	)

Retirement benefit obligation 		  P 	 17,888,784 			  P	  12,854,517

The movements in the present value of the retirement benefit obligation recognized in the books are as follows:

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Balance at beginning of year 	 	 P 	 27,758,716 			  P 	 20,121,745
Current service cost and interest cost 			   7,416,927 				   8,143,519
Benefits paid 	 (	 	 4,367,345	) 	 ( 	 992,811	)
Actuarial (gains) losses	 (	 	 2,748,467	) 		  	 486,263

Balance at end of year 		  P 	 28,059,831 			  P 	 27,758,716
 
The movements in the fair value of plan assets are presented below.

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Balance at beginning of year 		  P 	 14,502,778 			  P	  13,728,633
Expected return on plan assets			    1,160,222 				   1,372,863
Contributions paid into the plan 			   1,133,819 				   1,228,304
Benefits paid 	 (	 	 4,367,345	) 	 ( 	 992,811	)
Actuarial losses	 (	 	 654,487	)	 ( 	 834,211	)

Balance at end of year 		  P 	 11,774,987 			  P	  14,502,778

The amounts of retirement benefits recognized in the income statements are as follows:

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Current service costs 	 	 P	  4,988,039 			  P	  5,713,409
Interest costs 		  	 2,428,888 				   2,430,110
Expected return on plan assets 	 ( 	 1,160,222	)	 (	 	 1,372,863	)
Net actuarial loss (gain) recognized during the year 	 ( 	 88,619	) 		  	 2,352,693

		  P	  6,168,086 			  P 	 9,123,349

In determining the retirement benefit obligation, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

		  	 2008 	 		  	 2007	
Discount rates 			   8.75% 				    8.29%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 			   8.00% 	 			   8.00%
Expected rate of salary increases 		  	 8.00% 				    8.00%
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Presented below are the historical information related to the present value of the retirement benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets and 
deficit in the plan (in thousand Philippine pesos) arising on plan assets and liabilities.

			   	 	 2008	  			 	 2007	  			 	 2006	  			 	 2005	  			 	 2004	
Present value of the obligation 		  P 	 28,060 			 P	  27,759 		 P	  20,122 		 P 	 15,804 		 P	  9,239
Fair value of the plan assets 		  	 11,775 			 	 14,503 			 	 13,729 		 		 9,318 		 		 8,485

Deficit in the plan 		  P 	 16,285 			 P 	 13,256 		 P 	 6,393 		 P 	 6,486 		 P 	 754

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

20.1 Nature of Related Party Transactions

The significant transactions of the Bank in the normal course of business with related parties are described below.

a. 	 The Bank has loan transactions with its officers and employees. The General Banking Act of the BSP provides that in the aggregate, 
loans to DOSRI generally should not exceed the Bank’s total capital funds or 15% of the Bank’s total loan portfolio, whichever is lower. 
In addition, the amount of individual loans to DOSRI, of which 70% must be secured, should not exceed the amount of their deposits 
and the book value of their investments in the Bank. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, total loans extended to DOSRI amounted to 
P223.9 million and P20.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2008, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with the BSP requirement 
on DOSRI limits.

	
	 Relative to the DOSRI loans, the following additional information as of December 31 is also presented:

			   		 2008	 		 		   2007	
Total outstanding DOSRI loans 	 	P 	223,885,501 	 			  P	  20,503,857
% to total loan portfolio	 		  3.02% 	 				   0.21%
% of unsecured DOSRI loans to
	 total DOSRI loans 	 		 3.29% 	 				   32.00%

	 As of December 31, 2008, past due DOSRI loans amounted to P0.8 million (nil in 2007).

b.	  The balances of DOSRI deposits inclusive of the corresponding related accrued interest included in the financial statements amounted 
to P2.142 billion and P1.702 billion as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

20.2 Key Management Personnel Compensations

Salaries and short-term benefits received by key management personnel in 2008 and 2007, are summarized below.

			   		 2008 	 		 		  2007	
Salaries and wages 		 P 	 8,106,861 		 P 	 5,526,000
Bonuses				    3,445,027 				   2,332,000
Social security costs 			  154,935 				   131,460
Short-term medical benefits 		 	 100,000 				   70,000
Others 		  		 6,599,543 		 		  4,482,286

				   P 	 18,406,366 		 P	  12,541,746
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21. TAXES

21.1 Current and Deferred Taxes

The components of tax expense for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

				    	 2008	  		 	 2007	
Current tax expense:
	 Final tax on income
		  at 20%, 10% and 7.5% 		  P 	 28,028,440 		 P 	 31,957,893
	 Regular corporate income tax
		  (RCIT) at 35% 			   6,342,810 				  11,762,377
	 Minimum corporate income
		  tax (MCIT) at 2% 		  	 1,791,599 		 	 -	

				    	 36,162,849 			 	 43,720,270
Benefit from previously unrecognized
	 MCIT 		  	 -	  		 ( 	 8,849,118	)

Deferred tax expense (income):
	 Deferred tax relating to
		  origination and reversal of
		  temporary differences 			   8,297,573 		 (	 1,584,740	)
	 Deferred tax resulting from
		  reduction in tax rate 		  	 11,423,435 		 		 -	

				    	 19,721,008 		 (	  1,584,740	)
Tax expense reported in the
	 income statements 		  P 	 55,883,857 		 P 	 33,286,412

A reconciliation of tax on pretax income computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax expense reported in the income statements 
follows:

				    	 2008	  		 	 2007	
Tax on pretax income at 35% 		  P 	 84,724,091 		 P 	 68,582,628
Adjustment for income subjected to
	 lower tax rates	 (	 	 50,117,483	) 	 ( 	 19,959,673	)
Tax effects of:
	 Non-taxable income 	 ( 	 24,813,576	) 	 ( 	 28,852,838	)
	 Non-deductible expenses 			   36,348,918 				  27,534,952
	 Reduction in deferred tax
		  due to change in tax rate 			   9,741,907				  -
Benefit from previously unrecognized
	 MCIT 			   -	  		 ( 	 8,849,118	)
Benefit from net operating loss
	 carryover (NOLCO) 		  	 -	  		 ( 	 5,169,539	)

Tax expense reported in the
	 income statements 		  P 	 55,883,857 		 P 	 33,286,412

In 2007, the Bank has utilized the deferred tax assets amounting to P5.2 million arising from the 2006 NOLCO.
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The net deferred tax assets as of December 31 (included as part of Other Resources account – see Note 13) relate to the following:

	 	 Statements of Condition 	 	 	 Income Statements	
	 	 2008	  	 	 2007	  	 	 2008	  	 	 2007	
Deferred tax assets:
	 Allowance for impairment losses 		 P 	 67,848,147 		 P 	 78,761,906 		 P 	 10,913,759 		 (P	  6,899,100	)
	 Provision for contingencies 		 	 5,365,068 				  6,259,246 				  894,178 				  -
	 Retirement benefit obligation 			  4,750,983 				  3,774,520 		 ( 	 976,463	) 	 ( 	 2,763,266	)
	 Accumulated depreciation of
		  investment properties and 
		  other resources 			  4,994,511 				  3,408,984	 	 ( 	 1,585,527	) 	 ( 	 281,866	)

	 MCIT 			  1,791,599 				  - 			  ( 	 1,791,599	) 			  -
	 Unrealized fair value losses 		 	 142,473 				  66,740 		 ( 	 75,733	) 	 ( 	 4,856,122	)
	 NOLCO 		 	 - 					   -					    - 					   5,169,539
	 Unamortized pre-operating 
		  expenses 			  -					    -					    - 					   505,196
Deferred tax liability:
	 Gain on initial recognition of
		  investment properties	 (	  24,649,743	) 	 ( 	 12,307,350	) 		 	 12,342,393 		 		 7,540,879

Net Deferred Tax Assets 		 P 	 60,243,038 		 P 	 79,964,046
Deferred Tax Expense (Income) 										     P 	 19,721,008 		 (P	  1,584,740	)

In accordance with Republic Act (RA) No. 9337 which amended certain sections of the National Internal Revenue Code of 1997, RCIT rate is 
reduced from 35% to 30% beginning January 1, 2009. Hence, the Bank’s deferred tax assets and liability as of December 31, 2008 were measured 
at 30% representing the enacted tax rate that will apply to the period when the assets will be realized or the liability will be settled. 

The Bank is subject to MCIT which is computed at 2% of gross income as defined under the tax regulations. The breakdown of the Bank’s MCIT 
which can be applied against RCIT follows:

							      Applied
				   Original 			   in 			   Remaining 			   Valid
		 Year 	 	 	 Amount 	 	 	 Previous Year 	 	 	 Balance	  	 	 Until	
		 2008 		  P	  1,791,599 			 P	  - 			   P	  1,791,599 				  2011
		 2006	  		 8,849,118 			 	 8,849,118 			  	 -	 				   2009
				   P 	 10,640,717 			 P 	 8,849,118			   P	  1,791,599

21.2 Recent Tax Regulation

Effective July 2008, RA No. 9504 was approved giving corporate taxpayers an option to claim itemized deduction or optional standard 
deduction (OSD) equivalent to 40% of gross income. Once the option to use OSD is made, it shall be irrevocable for the taxable year for which 
the option was made. In 2008, the Bank opted to continue claiming itemized deductions.

The Monetary Board, in a resolution contained in BSP Circular No. 619, issued on August 22, 2008 states that reverse repurchase agreements 
(RRPs), or bank’s placements of cash in the central bank’s vaults, are considered as deposit substitutes and so are subject to the 20% final 
withholding tax (FWT) under the National Internal Revenue Code. On March 3, 2009, BSP issued Circular No. 647 as an amendment to Circular 
No. 619, with respect to the interest income earned from overnight RRPs from January 1, 2008 to August 22, 2008, wherein the concerned 
banks or quasi-banks shall reimburse BSP the amount equivalent to 40% of the 20% FWT due thereon. However, banks or quasi-banks which 
choose to pay the whole 20% FWT shall remit the amount equivalent to the 60% balance thereof to the Bureau of Internal Revenue, through 
the BSP, as withholding agent. The Bank accrued for the 40% of the 20% FWT amounting to P7,473,572 (included as part of Others under 
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities in the 2008 statement of condition – see Note 16) as of December 31, 2008 and subjected the 60% 
balance thereof under the regular corporate income tax.
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22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Bank:

a. 	The Bank leases the premises occupied by its branch offices for periods ranging from 5 to 20 years, renewable upon mutual agreement 
between the Bank and the lessors. Rent expense amounted to P24.4 million and P20.7 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, and are shown 
as part of Occupancy account in the income statements. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, future minimum rental payments for the next 
five years required by the lease contracts are as follows: 

		  		  2008 	 		  		  2007	
Within one year 	 P 	 25,009,317 		 P	  15,755,401
After one year but not more
	 than five years 			   36,915,705 				   33,789,507
More than five years 	 		  9,742,397 		 		  16,620,014

		  P 	 71,667,419 		 P 	 66,164,922

b. 	In the normal course of the Bank’s operations, the Bank has various outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities such as guarantees, 
commitments to extend credit, etc., which are not reflected in the accompanying financial statements. 

c. 	The Bank recognizes in its books any losses and liabilities incurred in the course of its operations as soon as these become determinable and 
quantifiable. 

As of December 31, 2008, the Bank’s management believes that losses, if any, from the above commitments and contingencies will not have 
material effect on the Bank’s financial statements.

The following is a summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent accounts as of December 31:

			   	 	 2008 	 			   	 2007	
Investment management accounts 		  P	  841,375,676 			  P 	 264,219,188
Trust and other fiduciary accounts 		  	 145,927,768 				   32,091,539
Outstanding letters of credit 			   33,753,528				     13,100,000
Unit investment trust fund 		  	 9,059,662 				   16,222,781
Late deposits/payments received 			   350,164 				   2,926,841
Outward bills for collection 	 		  161,321				     649,290
Items held for safekeeping 		  	 20,470				     16,097
Items held as collateral		  	  2,892	 			    2,356
Outstanding guarantees issued			    - 					     33,626,332
Other contingent accounts 		  	 333,915,619 			  	 157,195,105

				    P	  1,364,567,100 			  P 	 520,049,529

The Bank has a revolving short-term documentary credit issuing facility to cover the issuance of credits with a foreign bank to the Bank’s 
customers of up to an aggregate amount of US$1.0 million and P10.0 million but not to exceed the outstanding deposit guarantee. As of 
December 31, 2007, due from other banks, shown as part of deposit with the foreign bank amounting to US$7.8 million or P322.8 million (see 
Note 6) is used as guarantee for this facility. In addition, the deposits must be increased immediately upon demand by the foreign bank in 
accordance with the conditions set forth in the agreement.

In the event that the foreign bank has no outstanding exposure with the Bank, the deposits can be withdrawn and/or transferred even before 
the expiration of the facility after giving a five-day prior written notice to the foreign bank.

As of December 31, 2008, the Bank no longer holds such time deposit with the foreign bank.
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23. TRUST OPERATIONS

The following securities and other properties held by the Bank in fiduciary or agency capacity (for a fee) for its customers are not included in 
the accompanying statement of condition since these are not properties of the Bank:

			   	 	 2008 	 			   	 2007	
Due from BSP 	 	 P	  165,000,000			   P 	 279,784,167
Loans and other receivables		  	  705,100,195				     -
Due from other banks 			   116,862,451 				   18,802,431
Investment securities 	 	 	 9,400,460 			  	 13,946,910

				    P	  996,363,106 			  P 	 312,533,508

In compliance with the current banking regulations relative to the Bank’s trust functions, government bonds owned by the Bank with face 
value of P16.0 million and P19.9 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, are deposited with BSP (see Note 9).

24. SELECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

a. 	The following are some of the financial performance indicators of the Bank:

				   	 2008 		 		  	 2007	
Return on average capital

	 Net income 	 			  14.48% 					    14.58%	
	 Average total capital accounts

Return on average resources

	 Net income	 			   1.42% 					    1.47%
	 Average total resources

Net interest margin

	 Net interest income	 			   4.41% 					    4.25%
	 Average interest earning resources

Capital to risk assets ratio

	 Total capital 	 			  19.30% 					    18.51%
	 Risk resources

b. Secured Liabilities and Resources Pledged as Security

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, there were no secured liabilities and assets pledged as security.

25. NOTES TO CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

The amount of due from banks considered as cash and other cash equivalents follows:

				   	 Note	 	 		 	 2008	 			 	  2007	
Due from other banks 						    	P 	 163,411,780 		 P 	 919,237,273
Due from other banks not
	 considered as cash and cash equivalents 			  6 					   - 			  (	  5,160,000	)

									      P 	 163,411,780 		 P	  914,077,273
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